
Meeting of:  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 

Date/Time:  Tuesday, November 27, 2018 @ 7:00 p.m.   

Location:  Council Chambers (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 

   321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 

Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Matt Bartlett, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Denise 

Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Kathleen Johnson,  Tom Majewski, 

Pat O’Connor, Lisa Reeves, Timothy Riley and Nicole Wiessinger 

ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM 

(EIGHT). The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend 

the meeting, please notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608)873-6677 or via email 

hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us  

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

1. Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  

 Stoughton Chamber of Commerce Budget Presentation  

 

2. Minutes and Reports: 

Landmarks (10/11/2018); Planning Commission (10/8/2018); Public Works (9/20/18); Tree 

Commission (10/11/18); Parks & Rec (10/29/2018); Whitewater Park Steering Committee 

(10/15/2018)  

 

 

3. Public Comment Period:  

 

 

4. CONSENT AGENDA 

A. November 13, 2018 Council minutes 

B.  R-192-2018 – Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue 

Operator Licenses to various applicants.  

 

OLD BUSINESS 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS 

 

5. R- 193-2018- Acceptance of Certain Public Improvement made by Harvest Farms, LLC for 

Nordic Ridge Phase III (Public Works approved 4-0 on November 15, 2018)  

 

6. O- 28-2018-Ordinance amending the zoning classification of 1125 W. Main Street in the City of 

Stoughton, WI (Plan Commission approved 6-0 on November 12, 2018)    

FIRST READING 

 

 

OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA-AMENDED 
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 

regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 

  

 

mailto:hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us


7. R-194-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to allocate up to $2,000 from 

the contingency fund for article in 2019 edition of the Madison Region Economic Development 

magazine (Mad Rep)  (Finance approved 4-1 on November 13, 2018)  

 

8. R- 195-2018- Authorizing and directing the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority 

to move forward with developing a master plan for the Central Business District (RDA 

approved 6-0 on November 14, 2018)  

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 

aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.By: 

Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Tom Majewski  

 





Meeting of:  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 


Date/Time:  Tuesday, November 27, 2018 @ 7:00 p.m.   


Location:  Council Chambers (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 


   321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Matt Bartlett, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Denise 


Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Kathleen Johnson,  Tom Majewski, 


Pat O’Connor, Lisa Reeves, Timothy Riley and Nicole Wiessinger 


ATTENTION COUNCIL MEMBERS: TWO-THIRDS OF MEMBERS NEEDED FOR A QUORUM 


(EIGHT). The Council may only conduct business when a quorum is present. If you are unable to attend 


the meeting, please notify the City Clerk’s office via telephone (608)873-6677 or via email 


hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us  


 


CALL TO ORDER 


 


1. Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  


 Stoughton Chamber of Commerce Budget Presentation  


 


2. Minutes and Reports: 


Landmarks (10/11/2018); Planning Commission (10/8/2018); Public Works (9/20/18); Tree 


Commission (10/11/18); Parks & Rec (10/29/2018); Whitewater Park Steering Committee 


(10/15/2018)  


 


 


3. Public Comment Period:  


 


 


4. CONSENT AGENDA 


A. November 13, 2018 Council minutes 


B.  R-192-2018 – Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue 


Operator Licenses to various applicants.  


 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


5. R- 193-2018- Acceptance of Certain Public Improvement made by Harvest Farms, LLC for 


Nordic Ridge Phase III (Public Works approved 4-0 on November 15, 2018)  


 


6. O- 28-2018-Ordinance amending the zoning classification of 1125 W. Main Street in the City of 


Stoughton, WI (Plan Commission approved 6-0 on November 12, 2018)    


FIRST READING 


 


 


OFFICIAL NOTICE AND AGENDA-AMENDED 
Notice is hereby given that Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Wisconsin, will hold a 


regular or special meeting as indicated on the date and at the time and location given below. 


  


 



mailto:hlicht@ci.stoughton.wi.us





7. R-194-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to allocate up to $2,000 from 


the contingency fund for article in 2019 edition of the Madison Region Economic Development 


magazine (Mad Rep)  (Finance approved 4-1 on November 13, 2018)  


 


8. R- 195-2018- Authorizing and directing the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority 


to move forward with developing a master plan for the Central Business District (RDA 


approved 6-0 on November 14, 2018)  


 


ADJOURNMENT 


Upon reasonable notice, efforts will be made to accommodate the needs of disabled individuals through appropriate 


aids and services. For information or to request such assistance, please call the City Hall at (608) 873-6677.By: 


Mayor Tim Swadley, Council President Tom Majewski  


 








 10:46 AM


 11/15/18


 Accrual Basis


 Department of Visitor Services


 Profit & Loss Budget Overview
 January through December 2019


Jan - Dec 19


Balance


12,000.00


Income


4100 City of Stoughton Room Tax 56,000.00


4310 Special  Activities


4312 Visitor Guide 0.00


Total 4310 Special  Activities 0.00


4315 Misc 0.00


Total Income 56,000.00


Expense


5000 Administrative Expenses


5010 Salaries and Wages 1,050.00


5000 Administrative Expenses - Other 15,999.88


Total 5000 Administrative Expenses 17,049.88


5100 Operational Expenses


5110 Visitor Services Marketing 7,750.00


5112 Office Equipment Purchased 396.00


5120 Telephone 864.00


5130 Internet Expenses 432.00


5131 Chamber Master 804.00


5210 Office Supplies 500.00


5220 Janitorial Expenses 180.00


5309 Meals 204.00


5310 Lodging 600.00


5311 Travel Show Expenses 450.00


5312 Auto Expenses 402.00


5500 Meetings and Workshops 1,800.00


5700 Advertising 21,000.00


5800 Postage and Delivery 300.00


5910 Insurance 1,248.00


6000 Education and Training 504.00


6100 Printing 960.00


6200 Dues & Subscriptions 1,560.00


6310 Misc. Expense 96.00


Total 5100 Operational Expenses 40,050.00


5113 Graphic Design 3,000.00


Total Expense 60,099.88


Net Income -4,099.88


Projected Net Balance 7,900.12$                      


2018 Carryover


 Page 1 of 1








T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2018 PACKETS\11-27-2018\Minutes\01-Landmarks Minutes 10-11-18.doc 


Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


Thursday October 11, 2018 – 6:30 pm 


City Hall, Hall of Fame Room, Lower Level, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI. 
 


Members Present:  Peggy Veregin, Chair; Greg Pigarelli, Secretary; Tom Majewski; Kristi Panthofer; 


Kimberly Cook; and Todd Hubing 


Absent: Alan Hedstrom 


Staff: Michael Stacey, Zoning Administrator 


Guests:  None 


 


1. Call to order.  Veregin called the meeting to order at 6:30 pm. 
 


2. Consider approval of the Landmarks Commission meeting minutes of September 20, 2018.   


Motion by Cook to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Pigarelli.  Motion carried 5 – 0. 
 
3. Discuss future plans for the Power Plant building. 


Veregin stated she had not heard anything new to report. 
 
Stacey stated the whitewater park grant was denied for this year but may be a possibility next year.  
There are concerns about kayakers going under the bridge and a hydraulic study is necessary. 
 
Panthofer arrived at 6:35 pm 
 
Veregin questioned if the Power Plant will be transferred to the RDA.  Majewski stated they still 
need to find out from the Parks and Recreation Committee about removal of the race. 
 


4. Status update for Highway Trailer / Moline Plow building redevelopment. 


At the next RDA meeting they will consider solutions to shore up the blacksmith building. 
 


5. Discuss Linderud photo collection. 


The commission discussed the website being developed by Hubing at www.historicstoughton.org 
 
Hubing met with the Stoughton Historical Society (SHS) to discuss the Landmark’s Commission 
use of the Linderud photo collection.  The SHS essentially gave Hubing the go ahead under certain 
restrictions such as that SHS retains the copyright of the collection and that the collection be 
watermarked with a low resolution to prevent copying from the website. 
 
Hubing plans to experiment with watermarks for discussion at the next meeting. 
 
Veregin stated to have SHS clarify that the use is for the Landmarks Commission. 
 
Hubing plans to contact Richard at the Library to discuss the Linderud Exhibit. 
 
The Commission discussed meeting with SHS to share information. 
 
Hubing stated the R Olde House Group is meeting at his building at 129 E. Main Street on 
November 15th at 7pm and the SHS will be there for a presentation by Dave Kalland about several 
Linderud photos.  The Landmarks Commission is interested in attending. 
 
 







Landmarks Commission Meeting Minutes 


10/11/18 


Page 2 of 2 


 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2018 PACKETS\11-27-2018\Minutes\01-Landmarks Minutes 10-11-18.doc  


6. Discuss Main Street Outreach. 


The Farmer’s Market was a success. 
 
The Commission discussed providing information to new residents of Stoughton. 
 
Panthofer plans to work on a Facebook page. 
 
Cook will review Tower Times articles and provide to Stacey next week. 
 


7. 2018 Preservation Award Nomination. 


Veregin plans to write a letter for the preservation award.  The Commission discussed having a 
photo taken at the building and a presentation at the December 11th Council meeting.  


  


8. Local landmark status update for 148/154 E. Main St, 118 N. Page St and 515 E. Main St. 


Tabled until January. 


 


9. Status of 2017 and 2018 local landmark grants. 


Stacey provided a spreadsheet summarizing the grants. 


 


10. Discuss 2019 Budget. 


The 2019 budget will be known by the November meeting. 


 


11. Commission Reports/Calendar.  


Panthofer provided 4 logo designs for the Landmarks Commission. 


 


The Commission discussed building features and colors to use for the logo. 


 


Panthofer plans to work on another design using a feature commonly found on buildings in the 


downtown.  Panthofer discussed adding the logo to the Landmarks website. 


 


Pigarelli may be able to get his son to use his drone to take pictures of building features in the 


downtown. 


 


12. Future agenda items. 


None discussed. 


 


13. Adjournment. Motion by Majewski to adjourn at 8:45 pm, 2nd by Cook.   Motion carried 6 - 0. 


 
Respectfully Submitted,  
 
Michael P. Stacey 







Plan Commission Meeting Minutes 


Monday, October 8, 2018 at 6:00 pm 
Public Safety Building, Council Chambers, Second Floor, 321 S. Fourth Street, Stoughton, 
WI. 
 


Members Present:  Mayor Tim Swadley, Chair; Matt Bartlett, Vice-Chair; Todd Barman; Phil 


Caravello; Greg Jenson; Tom Robinson; and Tom Selsor 


Members Absent: None 


Staff:  Rodney Scheel, Director of Planning & Development and Michael Stacey, Zoning 


Administrator 


Press: None 


Guests: Emily Bahr; Kathy Kamp; Matt Adams; Greg Shaw; Michael Rumpf; Kevin of Badger Tile 


and Stone and Matt Dregne. 


 


1. Call to order.  Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 6:00 pm. 


 


2. Consider approval of the Plan Commission meeting minutes of September 10, 2018.   


Motion by Bartlett to approve the minutes as presented, 2nd by Jenson.  Motion carried 7 – 0. 


 


3. Council Representative Report. 


Bartlett stated there were no agenda items for the Common Council to consider. 


 


4. Staff Report - Status of Current Developments. 


Scheel gave an overview of the status of current developments as outlined in the packet.  There 


were no questions. 


 


5. Request by Kathy Kamp, Wisconsin Partnership for Housing Development for certified 
survey map (CSM) approval to split the property at 309 Pine Street. 
Scheel explained the request. 


 


Kathy Kamp stated the request is to meet the minimum lot size requirement for a 4-unit residential 


project at the adjacent parcel.  Ms. Kamp stated they have a $300,000 grant from Dane County for 


the project. 


 


Motion by Selsor to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 2nd by 


Caravello.  Motion carried 7 – 0. 


 


6. Request by Jim Halbach for design approval of the façade improvements at 317 S. Division 


Street. 
Scheel gave an overview of the request. 
 
Kevin of Badger Tile and Stone explained the intent of the request which includes brick repair.  
Kevin stated that trucks have hit the building several times and asked if pole could be installed to 
prevent further damage. 
 
Barman suggested several changes including using a color similar to the brick for the window 
bump out area; he is not in favor of the painted lower brick; portland cement should not be used for 
mortar joints;  blue paint is favorable on the support pieces around the windows and on transom 
above the windows. 
 







Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 


10/8/18 


Page 2 of 4 


 


Motion by Barman to approve the resolution including color choices and portland cement not 


being used for mortar joints, 2nd by Caravello.  Kevin will work with Commissioner Barman on 


the suggested changes.   


 


Caravello questioned placing a post near the corner of the building.  Scheel stated it would be 


difficult placing a post in that corner. 


 


Motion carried 7 – 0. 


 


7. Request by Matt Adams for design approval for awning removal and signage installation at 


143 E. Main Street. 


Mayor Swadley introduced the request. 


 


Matt Adams explained the intent is to move the window signage to the outside and install a 


projecting sign similar to what Wendigo has.  The awning was removed because the cloth was 


rotten and because there was signage from the previous business. 


 


There was a short discussion about the projecting sign. 


 


Motion by Barman to approve the resolution as presented, 2nd by Bartlett.  Matt Adams stated 


the projecting sign will be the same black and white color as Wendigo has. 


 


Motion carried 7 – 0. 


 


8. Request by Bryan Schilling for approval of an extra-territorial land division request at 1966 


Quam Point Road, Town of Dunn. 


Scheel explained the request. 


 


Barman questioned the setback to the 1-story adjacent home.  Scheel stated it is difficult to tell 


what that setback is and should be a concern only for the Town and County. 


 


Motion by Bartlett to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 2nd 


by Selsor.  Motion carried 7 – 0. 


 


9. Request by Gregory Shaw for approval of an extra-territorial land division request for 


property located on Taylor Lane, Town of Dunkirk. 


Scheel explained the request. 


 


Greg Shaw stated the Town and County have approved the land division already. 


 


Motion by Bartlett to recommend the Common Council approve the resolution as presented, 2nd 


by Robinson.  Motion carried 7 – 0 


 


10. Request by Bob Dvorak for direct annexation of a portion of the Town of Dunkirk and a 


portion of the Town of Rutland. 


Scheel explained the request. 


 







Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 


10/8/18 


Page 3 of 4 


 


Attorney Michael Rumpf was available for questions. 


 


Barman questioned the letter from the Town of Dunkirk.  Scheel stated development will need to 


be consistent with the City’s Comprehensive Plan and adhere to City ordinances such as a zoning 


bufferyards, lighting, setbacks, etc.  Residents on Velkommen Way will still need to be provided 


access to their properties and will be considered as part of development concepts. 


 


Bartlett questioned the strip of land owned by the City of Stoughton.  Scheel gave a history of the 


strip of land from when Walmart had plans to develop to the north of this land on the Linnerud 


lands. 


 


Motion by Bartlett to recommend the Common Council approve the annexation ordinance as 


presented, 2nd by Jenson.  Motion carried 6 – 1 (Caravello voted no) 


 


11. Proposed zoning ordinance amendment to sections 78-517 and 78-913 related to the 


Downtown Design Overlay Zoning District. 


Mayor Swadley introduced the proposed ordinance amendments. 


 


Mayor Swadley opened the public hearing. 


 


No one registered to speak. 


 


Mayor Swadley closed the public hearing. 


 


Mayor Swadley thanked Commissioner Barman, City Attorney Dregne and City staff for all the 


work on the ordinance revisions. 


 


Jenson stated he read the ordinance and is pleased with the outcome. 


 


Attorney Dregne gave a review of the final ordinance draft. 


 


Scheel stated the non-redlined copy is the one being acted on tonight. 


 


Jenson questioned the moratorium which is still active for the blacksmith shop.  Mayor Swadley 


stated he could bring that up at Council. 


 


Motion by Jenson to recommend the Common Council approve the ordinance as presented, 2nd by 


Bartlett.   


 


Barman questioned whether the ordinance will meet the intent of the Comprehensive Plan.  City 


staff are confident that it does. 


 


Bartlett questioned a requirement to make sure horizontal bands are not painted.  Barman found a 


section of the ordinance that restricts painting of horizontal bands. 


 


Motion carried 7 – 0. 


 







Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 


10/8/18 


Page 4 of 4 


 


 


 


12. Future agenda items. 


Jenson suggested a discussion item to discuss increasing allowable chickens from 4 to 6 hens.  


Scheel stated staff has 4 pages of suggested ordinance changes that we will be bringing forward in 


the coming months for discussion. 


 


13. Adjournment. 


Motion by Jenson to adjourn at 6:55 pm, 2nd by Caravello.  Motion carried 7 – 0. 


 


Respectfully Submitted, 


 


Michael Stacey 


  


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


  


 


 


 


 


  
T:\PACKETS\APPROVED COMMITTEE MINUTES\Planning Commission\2018\Planning Minutes  10-08-18.docx 







 


 


Public Works Committee  
Thursday, September 20, 2018 @ 6:00 PM 
Hall of Fame Room, 381 E Main St 
 
Members Present:  Alderpersons Sid Boersma, Lisa Reeves, Tom Majewski and Matt Bartlett  


Absent/Excused: Planning Director Rodney Scheel 


Staff:  Mayor Swadley, Public Works Director Brett Hebert and Vickie Erdahl 


Guests:   
 
Call to Order:  Bartlett called the meeting to order 


1) Communications:   Hebert reported:  


 Bridge repair has started by Norcon. They are crack filling with epoxy, repairing the railing 
and structure which should be completed by the end of September. 


 Brush door tags were left where residents were out of compliance and eight citations were 
given.  The collection is published in multiple locations and also a sign board has been 
used to inform the residents. 


 In October the Virgin Lake Boardwalk will be placed. The wood for the boardwalk is 
reclaimed wood from the ash trees that were removed in Stoughton. 


 A RU Grant (recycling) has been submitted for in the amount of $36,000 


 130 trees will be planted in the next several weeks 


 Public Works will also be working with Stoughton Utilities on their 2019 bidding packet for  
tree trimming 
 
Mayor Swadley reported: 
 


 He has requested that Hebert give a presentation to the Council on the CIP overview of 
street projects 


 He has also requested Hebert & Glynn to discuss and provide information on a proposed 
development to convert land to a park on Chalet Dr.  Currently this property is owned by 
Todd Nelson.  Majewski stated that Alderperson Hirsch would like the city to have this 
property. 
 
Boersma reported: 
 


 The Tree Commission is submitting paperwork for Tree City USA & Growth Award.  Also for 
Arbor Day in 2019, the committee is thinking of having an event for youth education. 
 
 


Old Business: 


 


2) Public Works Facility Update:  Hebert reported that walls are up, the roof is in and the floors 
are being poured for the cold storage unit.  Drains will be going in shortly.  The project is still 
on target for completion by the end of the year. 


3) Reports:   Erdahl stated that street opening permits are at a consistent level and yard waste 
permit sales have slowed down – currently 960 permits have been sold. 


 


 







 


 


New Business: 


 


4)    Approve August 16, 2018 Meeting Minutes:  Motion by Boersma, seconded by Majewski 
to approve the minutes.  Motion carried 5-0. (Mayor voted yes) 


 


5)    Discussion and Possible Action Regarding the 2019 Fee Structure for Use of the Yard 
Waste and Compost Facility:  The new Yard Waste Compost site is under construction.  
Permits were submitted and approved and the Public Works crews are installing the road. 


 The cities contract with Dunkirk will expire at the end of 2018 and the land that the city 
currently uses to dispose of leaves and yard waste has now been sold.  Hebert wants the site 
finished in order to begin storing & composting leaves at the new site in the fall of 2018. The 
DNR permits have been submitted and when the road is completed the site will be inspected 
for use. The new yard waste site will be operational in the spring of 2019. 


 Hebert collected data on the current operating costs and presented his findings to the 
committee along with three options for fees at the new site fee structure. Only city residents 
have been charged in the past and now the plan is to offer Dunkirk residents an option to use 
the new city site but also at a fee.  


1) Option A – Residents $20 – Dunkirk $25  
2) Option B -- Residents $20 – Dunkirk $20 
3) Option C – Residents $15 – Dunkirk $20 


Current operating costs are $18,000 which includes grinding, utilities and on site staffing.  
Office & crew hours are not accounted for in the amounts shown. 


Hebert also asked if the committee wanted to consider lower pricing for late season with a 
time frame being decided.  The committee did not want to do this and after a short discussion 
choose Option A for the fee permit structure. 


Motion by Boersma, seconded by Reeves to recommend to the Common council to 
select Option A ($20 residents/$25 non-residents) for permit fees beginning with the 
2019 season.  Motion carried 4-0. 


 


6) Emerald Ash Borer Program Update:  Hebert explained the EAB tree removal and 
replacement of trees was originally funded for two years with 2018 being the second year, 
along with a chart to show the progress of the work completed and monies spent along with 
the remaining balance. At this time Hebert would re-allocate the remaining funds into the 
regular tree removal account.  


 The city currently treated 91 ash trees and they will continued to be monitored for survival. The 
trees planted for this project have come with a one year warranty from the nursery and the 
survival rate has been good and also saved the city money. 


 Majewski stated the trees are a city asset and if the Forester was out checking on their 
progress during and after warranty, could perhaps use a few watering bags if he saw trees 
that were struggling or if there was a possibility of sub-contracting for watering. 


 


7) Future Agenda Items:  Ord – Tree Replacement of Commercial Properties Property 
Maintenance, Zoning update for parking lots, Street Opening Permits – Pricing Structure 
(multiple holes on one permit) 


 


 Moved by Majewski seconded by Reeves to adjourn the meeting at 7:00 pm.  Motion 
carried 4-0.  Respectfully submitted by Vickie Erdahl Administrative Assistant –. 9/24/18 







 


 


Tree Commission Meeting Minutes 


Thursday, October 11, 2018 at 5:00 PM 


Ed Overland Room, 381 E Main St, Stoughton 
 
Members Present:   Mitch Bergeson, Nick Yuknis, Mike Point, Kevin Short and Sid Boersma   


Absent & Excused:    Dean Tangeman 


Guest:   


Staff:   City Forester John Kemppainen and Street Department Secretary Vickie Erdahl  


Call to order:  Bergeson called to order @ 5:00 PM  


 
1)   Communications:   


Kemppainen stated: 


 That he had sold cedar lumber to the High School at 50% discount for $70.00. 


 In the storm on Sunday, 9/30 a branch broke off a tree on the corner of Fourth & Riverside Dr. which 
smashed a car.  This tree has now been removed by Jim’s Tree Service. 


 
2) August & September Forestry Reports:  Kemppainen stated : 


 Completed updating tree inventory 


 Road construction projects monitored for tree conflicts 


 16 trees removed in-house and 100 + ash trees removed by Jim’s 


 Yahara River Trail has 120 ash trees to be removed 


 Review of private hazard tree ordinance is ongoing 


 130 purchased for the fall planting and site evaluations have begun 


 Preparation has begun for annual pruning program 1) generating lists in Zone 2 for trees greater 
than 6”- with smaller trees done in-house, 2) contractors will be contacted for quotes 


 Stump removal in Racetrack Park has begun 


 Kiln dried ash lumber was cut to size for the Virgin Lake Park Trail Boardwalk 


 Wood mulch was supplied to a Girl Scout troop for installing a pollinator garden which included 
butterfly houses at Racetrack Park 


 Worked installing a road at the new yard waste site 
 


3) Discussion regarding wood at Racetrack Barn and a Wood Inventory Sales Plan:  Kemppainen 
generated pricing per board foot that will be charged when the boards are sold. Hebert is talking with the 
city attorney regarding whether we have to charge sales tax when the wood is sold to the public. The 
committee is thinking of having a time for open sales to the public and the wood is considered to be a city 
asset. 


The committee decided: 1) the wood will be sold in mixed bundles, 2) Non-profits and schools will receive 
a 50% discount, 3) to use the Wisconsin Surplus site, 4) run an ad in the paper when all details are sorted 
out and we can move forward and 5) single boards will be distributed at the Senior Center for a donation. 


Point stated that at the Senior Center there isn’t a “set” price when an item is sold the customer gives a 
donation. 


Also discussed was the Wood Utilization Policy.  The committee feels all parties responsibilities should be 
spelled out – especially how the funds will be deposited and who pays what expenses. 


 


Committee directed staff to develop language in the plan regarding the distribution of monies from 
the sale(s) and who pays the cost of milling the logs in the draft of the Wood Utilization Policy. 







 


 


4) Discussion on Layout of Yard Waste Site @ New Facility:  Committee members reviewed the map of 
the new yard waste. Questions arose as to where the boards would be kept – they will be stored at the 
Public Works Facility in a designated area.  There is a plan to start a small nursery at the Public Works 
Facility due to lack of water at the yard waste site. 


 


5) Discussion for Tree City USA & Growth Award Ideas:  At a previous meeting two items were selected 
to obtain the 2018 Growth Award.  Further review determined that one of the selections was not going 
qualify (A10).  After some discussion the following two categories were selected:  A) 5 – Community Wide 
Tree Event and D) 5- Street Tree Pruning.  Brian Wahl will be contacted for questions.   


 


Committee directed staff to work on the document and bring to the November meeting for review. 


 


6)  Approval of minutes from August 9, 2018 Meeting:  Motion by Boersma seconded by Short to 
approve the minutes.  Carried 5-0. 
 


7)  Discussion regarding Tree City USA Event for 2019 – Youth Education /Tree Climbing:  Tabled to 
November meeting. 


 
8)  Future Agenda Items:  Tree Growth Award Plan – outline Arbor Day 2019, Wood Inventory Plan and 


Wood Utilization Policy 
 


 
Motion by Short, seconded by Yuknis to adjourn the meeting at 6:30 p.m.  Respectfully submitted 10/18/18, Vickie 
Erdahl - Staff  







CITY OF STOUGHTON FINANCE COMMITTEE MINUTES  


OCTOBER 23, 2018 @ 6:00 PM 


COUNCIL CHAMBERS, 321 S FOURTH STREET STOUGHTON, WI  


Present:  


Denise Duranczyk, Pat O’Connor, Greg Jenson, Kathleen Johnson and Mayor Tim Swadley  


Absent and Excused:  


None 


Others Present: 


Clerk Licht, Finance Director Friedl, Planning Director Scheel  


Call to Order:  


Duranczyk called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m.  


Communications:  


None 


Reports: the following reports were entered into the record.  


 Updated Contingency Report 


 September 2018 Treasurer’s Report  


 Year-to-Date September 30th Financial Summary 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


Approval of the October 9, 2018 Finance Committee Minutes  


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Jenson to approve the minutes with the following corrections: “as part 


of a future project for the construction on HWY 51. Motion carried 5-0. 


Discussion and possible action regarding listing of the vacant Utility property located at 3201 Mc 


Comb Road, Stoughton, WI  


Utility put a substation on about 4 acres of the land and there is now vacant land that will be sold off.  


This will come back at the next meeting  


Discussion and possible action regarding Unassigned Fund Balance Policy 


Jamin explained that the new policy would define Reserve Fund as General fund assigned fund balance 


less Unassigned Fund Balance amounts for any Other Government Fund not specifically shown as 


nonspendable Fund Balance in the General Fund.  


Motion by O’Connor, second by Jenson to approve the unassigned fund balance policy.  







Motion by Duranczyk, second by Jenson to strike out “In any given year, if there are no funds in excess 


of the 25%, there will be no committed funds for “one-time “purchases as defined in item 2. Motion 


carried 5-0.  


Original motion carried 5-0. 


Possible budget recommendations to the October 25, 2018 Committee of the Whole  


 Equipment Replacement Funding Options –use the unassigned fund balance  


 TIF No. 3 Transfers to General Fund  


 RDA Funding  


 Building Maintenance –Review this in the future.  


 Amounts already committed to contingency  


o Community Survey $15,000  


o Fireworks contribution- $5,000  


Jamin said he will look at the debt service option for TIF 5 and TIF 6.  The committee took no action on 


the other items. 


 


Adjourn:  


Motion by Jenson, second by Johnson to adjourn at 6:57 p.m. Motion carried 5-0.  


 


 


 


 


 







PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 
October 29, 2018 
6:00 PM 
Stoughton City Hall – Ed Overland Room  
 
Present: Alderpersons: Phil Caravello, Denise Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Nicole Wiessinger, 
Mayor Tim Swadley, and Parks & Recreation Director Dan Glynn 
Guests: Blake Theisen 
 
1. Call to Order 
Meeting called to order at 6:00 pm.  
 
2. Approval of the Minutes from September 18, 2018   
 
Duranczyk made a request that the wording to be changed so that it is clear that the park friends 
group would raise money and it wouldn’t be from raising taxes.   
 
Motion to approve and amend the minutes to reflect the changes by Hirsch and seconded by 
Wiessinger.  
 
3. Communications 
 
Pickleball Court Construction Update 
Glynn stated that he had hoped to use any leftover monies along with donated funds to purchase 
interior fencing in 2018. He will be unable to do so due to extra quantities of material needed to 
construct the court, so he adjusted the 2019 CIP to purchase both the interior and perimeter 
fencing. 
 
Yahara River Trail Project Update  
Glynn stated that three culverts would be installed in the next couple of weeks and restoration 
would take place in the spring of 2019. 
 
Rotary Park Update  
Glynn shared that the city has been meeting with the Rotary Club about installing bathrooms at 
Rotary Park as an alternative to purchasing the King property. The bathrooms proposed were 
prefabricated and could be placed near where the portable restroom is located. The committee 
asked about any changes about removing the railing to open up the gazebo to the crowd and 
Glynn shared that they have only discussed bathrooms at this point. 
 
Accessibility Advisory Committee  
Glynn shared that he was working on scheduling the first meeting and the members who were 
committed.  
 
Operating & CIP Budget Update  
Glynn shared that the $20,000 budgeted to do the River Trail extension project was no longer 
needed in 2019, The budget numbder for pickleball court fencing was changed to $15,000 due to 
not being able to purchase interior fencing in 2018.  
 
Nordic Ridge Park Utilities  
Glynn stated that the water use in 2018 was slightly under the maximum amount what was 
agreed upon prior to opening the splash pad. Hirsch noted that the level would need to be 
monitored yearly. 
 
Old Business 
 
4. Friends of Stoughton Parks Formation (Discussion) 
Glynn shared that he was waiting for some committee members to send him the names of 
potential members. 
 
5. Bike Transportation Plan Online Maps (Discussion) 
Glynn stated that he had put the plan on Google Maps so that someone would be able to  


 







decide where you are on the trail system. The bike lanes on the map should be updated to reflect 
2018 changes. 
 
6. Park & Open Space Plan Update (Discussion)  
The committee discussed changes with the consultant, Blake Theisen. The discussion centered 
around streamlining the goals and making them reflect input that was gathered by the community 
survey. Changes included working on ADA compliance, nature trails, trail and park connectivity, 
sustainable energy, and land usage.  
 
7. Chalet Court Park Land (Discussion).   
Mayor stated that he met with land owner and studies have not been completed as needed. 
Duplexes have been proposed for the site. More work on the proposal of park and future 
discussion will be needed.  
 
8. Purchasing Bike Route Sign Poles (Discussion & Possible Action) 
Motion by Hirsch at 2:45 seconded by Duranczyk to purchase ten poles at a cost of around $500. 
This money would come from Park Development fund.  
 
9. Park Metrics (Discussion) 
Glynn briefly shared that the report is a benchmarking survey which compares like agencies from 
the region. The results of the report showed that parks and recreation, including maintenance, is 
understaffed. In areas such as cost recovery per person, they rank in the upper half of agencies.  
 
10. Future Agenda Items  
Chalet Court Park Land 
Rotary Park Update 
Park Development Guidelines and Standards 
 
Adjournment 
Motion made by Hirsch and seconded by Duranczyk at 9:01 pm. Motion carried unanimously.  







WHITEWATER PARK STEERING COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 
October 15, 2018  
8:00 AM 
Stoughton City Hall – Hall of Fame Room   
 
Present: Alderpersons: Bob Diebel, Regina Hirsch, Brandon Holstein, Carl Chenoweth, Alex 
DeSmidt, Matt Dregne, and Parks & Recreation Director Dan Glynn 
Guests: Gary Lacy (call in), Ron Jake, Gary Blazek, Alex Cramer, Mayor Tim Swadley  
 
1. Call to Order 
Meeting called to order at 8:00 am.  
 
2. Approval of the August 20, 2018 Minutes 
Motion by Diebel and second by DeSmidt to approve the minutes. Motion passed unanimously.  
 
3. Approval of the September 17, 2018 Minutes  
Motion by Chenoweth and seconded by Deibel to approve the minutes. Motion passed 
unanimously.  


 
4. Communications  
Glynn shared that the city did not receive the grant funding from the DNR even though the 
application scored high. They had concerns about water levels changing and we may need to do 
a hydrological study to proceed. The hydrological study is part of the next phase of engineering 
work. There will be a meeting with the DNR later in the day about the project. We may need to 
change a few things, but everything should move forward next year. Glynn stated that May 1, 
2019 would be the next deadline to apply for the grant. The DNR would like to see a hydrological 
study would need to be prepared. 
 
Old Business 
 
5. New Members 
Glynn shared there was a member from the Yahara Fishing Club who was interested in being a 
member. He would follow-up with him about attending the meetings.  
 
New Business  
 
6. Communication & Public Relations Strategies (Discussion and Possible Action) 
Glynn shared that there has been misinformation posted on various social media outlets. He 
invited Ron Jake for assistance in this area. Jake recommended staying on top of the various 
outlets and having a FAQ page about the project. The discussion then centered around steps 
forward with engineering and presenting the information to the community.   
 
7. Trail Connectivity & Greenways (Discussion) 
Item was tabled.  
 
8. Design Options – Gary Lacy (Discussion and Possible Action) 
Gary Lacy called into the meeting and answered questions about the project. Questions centered 
around quality of the park, safety concerns, and flood plain elevations. Lacy shared that there 
could be one or two more whitewater features upstream of the dam if it is removed. Lacy also 
shared that there is some concern with head clearance with the 4th St bridge during high flows, 
but he could engineer the rapids so it would be calm water for paddlers heading under the bridge. 
Lacy said the 4th St bridge wouldn’t need to be replaced, but it would help long-term to have a 
bridge that spans the entire river instead of a box culvert bridge. Lacy shared that the design for 
the concept plan would keep the in-stream improvements downstream of the 4th St bridge as is 
and additional features upstream of the bridge in the natural river channel. Lacy shared that 
moving the whitewater features all upstream of the bridge would not make traversing the bridge 
any safer than keeping whitewater features on both sides. Lacy recommended doing a dam out 
concept plan due to its modest cost which can provide a picture to the community on what a dam 
removal would look like. A hydraulic analysis would be needed to predict water level impacts.  
 


 







Motion made by Chenoweth and seconded by Diebel to recommend to the Parks and Recreation 
to consider funding the dam out conceptual plan. Motion passed unanimously.  
 
Motion made by Dregne and seconded by DeSmidt to recommend to City Council to fund 
additional design and engineering at $90,000 in 2019. Motion passed unanimously.  
 
Adjournment 
Motion made by Hirsch and seconded by Holstein at 9:50 am. Motion carried unanimously.  





		01-Landmarks Minutes 10-11-18.pdf

		02-Planning Minutes  10-08-18.pdf

		03-PW Min September 20, 2018.pdf

		04-TC Min October 11, 2018.pdf

		05-October 23, 2018 DRAFT Finance Mintues.pdf

		06-PARKS AND RECREATION COMMITTEE MEETING MINUTES 10-29-18.pdf

		07-Whitewater Park Steering Committee Meeting Minutes 10-15-18.pdf






Meeting of:  COMMON COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF STOUGHTON 


Date/Time:  Tuesday, November 13, 2018 @ 7:00 p.m.   


Location:  Council Chambers (2nd Floor of Public Safety Building) 


   321 South Fourth Street, Stoughton, Wisconsin 


Members: Mayor Tim Swadley, Matt Bartlett, Sid Boersma, Phil Caravello, Denise 


Duranczyk, Regina Hirsch, Greg Jenson, Kathleen Johnson,  Tom Majewski, 


Pat O’Connor, Lisa Reeves, Timothy Riley and Nicole Wiessinger 


 


CALL TO ORDER 
Mayor Swadley called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m. 


 


Roll Call, Communications, and Presentations:  


Clerk Licht called the roll and noted that there were 10 alders presents. Wiessinger and Boersma were 


absent and excused. Boersma arrived at 7:50 p.m.  


 RDA Presentation: Roger Springman and Gary Becker Presented the RDA progress update 


of the Riverfront Development Project.  


 Clerk Licht gave an update on the 2018 General Election. She noted that there was an 80% 


turnout citywide.  


 


Minutes and Reports: following minutes were entered into the record.  


Rivers and Trails Task Force (9/10/2018); Parks & Rec (9/18/18); Public Safety (9/26/2018)  


 


 


Public Comment Period:  


 


 


CONSENT AGENDA 


A. October 23, 2018 Council minutes 


B.  R-183-2018 – Resolution Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue 


Operator Licenses to various applicants.  


 


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Jenson to approve the consent agenda. Motion carried 10-0. 


 


PUBLIC HEARING-2019 City of Stoughton Operating Budget  


 


The public hearing opened at 7:19 p.m. There were no comments from the public. The public hearing 


closed at 7:19 p.m.  


 


OLD BUSINESS 


 


O-24-2018- Repealing Section 78-913 and Repealing and Recreating Section 78-517 of the 


Stoughton Municipal Code  


 


Motion by Bartlett, second by Jenson to approve O-24-2018 Repealing Section 78-913 and 


Repealing and Recreating Section 78-517 of the Stoughton Municipal Code. Motion carried 10-







0. 


 


NEW BUSINESS 


 


R-183-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s)  to approve the Stoughton 2018 


budget and five year (2019-2023) Capital Improvement Plan (CIP)  


 


Motion by Majewski, second by Duranczyk to approve R-183-2018 Authorizing and directing the 


proper City official(s)  to approve the Stoughton 2018 budget and five year (2019-2023) Capital 


Improvement Plan (CIP). Motion carried 10-0. 


 


R-184-2018-Authorizing and directing the proper City Officials to adopt the 2019 City of Stoughton 


Budget  


 


Motion by Majewski, second by Hirsch to approve R-184-2018 Authorizing and directing the proper 


City Officials to adopt the 2019 City of Stoughton Budget. Finance Director Friedl presented an 


overview of the budget. He highlighted revenues, the increase in wages (3%) and benefits. He added that 


the mill rate would decrease slightly.  


 


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Johnson to transfer $171,304 from TIF No. 3 to the Debt Service 


Fund. Motion carried 10-0. 


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Duranczyk to eliminate $33,750 in grant revenue from TIF. N0. 5. Motion 


carried 10-0. 


Sharon Mason-Boersma discussed the Affordable Transportation Program.  Bartlett said 


that he cannot support this because no other group was given an opportunity to ask for a 


donation.  


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Johnson to include a donation of $1000 in the 2019 


for the Affordable Transportation group. Motion by Hirsch, second by second by 


Boersma to approve the request this year and to recommend that CA CP create a grant 


application process for future years. Motion carried 7-3 with Bartlett, Majewski and 


Jenson voting no and Boersma abstaining. Amendment as now amended motion carried 


on roll call vote 7-3 with Boersma abstaining and Bartlett, Jenson and Majewski voting 


no.  


Original motion as amended carried 11-0.  


 


R- 185-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to approve the City of 


Stoughton five-year (2019-2023) Capital Improvement Plan (CIP).  


Motion by Majewski, second by Riley to approve R-185-2018 Authorizing and directing the 


proper City official(s) to approve the City of Stoughton five-year (2019-2023) Capital 


Improvement Plan (CIP). Mayor Swadley gave an overview of the larger CIP projects. Motion 


carried 11-0. 


 







 


R-186-2018- Setting a Special Charge for Garbage and Recycling Collection Fees 


Motion by Bartlett, second by Boersma to approve R-186-2018 Setting a Special Charge for 


Garbage and Recycling Collection Fee. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


R- 187-2018-Approving revisions to the City of Stoughton Fund Balance Policy 


 


Motion by Duranczyk, second by Jenson to approve R-187-2018 Approving revisions to the City of 


Stoughton Fund Balance Policy. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


R-188-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to approve an Interagency Agreement 


and accept the Crowd Control Grant on behalf of the Stoughton Police Department 


 


Motion by Jenson, second by O’Connor to approve R-188-2018 Authorizing and directing the proper 


City official(s) to approve an Interagency Agreement and accept the Crowd Control Grant on behalf of 


the Stoughton Police Department. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


O-25-2018-Amending Chapter 70-176 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; Creating Sub 


Section (76) relating to parking restrictions on the both sides of Nygaard Street 25 feet south of 


Roby Road.  


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Riley to suspend the rules and vote on O-25-2018, O-26-2018, and 


O-27-2018 after the first reading. Motion carried 11-0. Chief Leck explained that they would like 


to post the no parking signs before the ground froze.  


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to approve O-25-2018 Amending Chapter 70-176 of the 


City of Stoughton Municipal Code; Creating Sub Section (76) relating to parking restrictions on 


the both sides of Nygaard Street 25 feet south of Roby Road. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


O-26-2018- Amending Chapter 70-176 of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; Creating Sub 


Section (75) relating to parking restrictions on the South side of Roby Road from Nygaard Street 


185 feet East.  


 


Motion by Jenson, second by O’Connor to approve O-26-2018 Amending Chapter 70-176 of the 


City of Stoughton Municipal Code; Creating Sub Section (75) relating to parking restrictions on 


the South side of Roby Road from Nygaard Street 185 feet East. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


O- 27-2018- Amending Chapter 70-176 (61) of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to 


parking restrictions on the Veterans Road between the intersections of U.S. 51 and Vernon 


Street. 


 


Motion by Jenson, second by O’Connor to approve O-27-2018 Amending Chapter 70-176 (61) 


of the City of Stoughton Municipal Code; relating to parking restrictions on the Veterans Road 


between the intersections of U.S. 51 and Vernon Street. Motion carried 11-0. 







          


R- 189-2018- Authorizing and directing the proper City official (s)  to approve a Temporary Class “B” 


/Class “B” Retailers License and Special Event License to Relay for Life for the American Cancer 


Society  Rlay for Life Holiday Home Tour Opening Gala  


 


Motion by Jenson, second by O’Connor to approve R-189-2018 Authorizing and directing the proper 


City official (s) to approve a Temporary Class “B” /Class “B” Retailers License and Special Event 


License to Relay for Life for the American Cancer Society Relay for Life Holiday Home Tour Opening 


Gala. Motion carried 10-0 with Boersma abstaining.  


 


R-190-2018- Approving designated Snowmobile Routes in City right of ways  


 


Motion by Jenson, second by O’Connor to approve R-190-2018 Approving designated Snowmobile 


Routes in City right of ways. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


R-191-2018- Lifting the Council Imposed Moratorium on the Blacksmith Shop  


 


Motion by Jenson, second by Duranczyk to approve R-191-2018 Lifting the Council Imposed 


Moratorium on the Blacksmith Shop. Hirsch and Majewski said that the moratorium should stay in 


place. They added that the RDA would have to come back to council to demolish the building anyway. 


Motion by Majewski, second by O’Connor to table until after the RDA had a chance to discuss lifting 


the moratorium. Motion carried 11-0. 


 


ADJOURNMENT 


Motion by Jenson, second by Reeves to adjourn at 9:20 p.m. Motion carried 11-0. 


 








 


WHEREAS the City Clerk’s office has received an application for an Operator’s License from 


the following applicants: 


 


Name      Place of Business 


  Angela Rummelhoff    Walmart 


  Dana Mueller     Walmart 


  Daniel Bastida     BP West Main St. 


  Justin Raglin     Walmart 


  Mary Friedrichs    Walmart 


  Sherri Dahlk     Walmart    


       


    


 


WHEREAS, the Police Chief and City Clerk have reviewed and approved the issuance of an 


Operator Licenses to said applicants, now therefore 


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city 


official(s) be hereby authorized and directed to issue Operator Licenses to the above named 


applicants. 


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     
 


 


 
RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the proper city official(s) to issue Operator Licenses to various applicants. 


 
Committee 


Action: 


 
N/A 


Fiscal Impact: N/A 


 
File Number:  R-192-2018 


 
Date Introduced:   November 27, 2018 








 
City of Stoughton, 381 E Main Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE PUBLIC WORKS COMMITTEE 


 
Acceptance of Certain Public Improvements made by Harvest Farms, LLC for Nordic Ridge Phase III 


 
Committee Action: 


 
 Public Works Committee voted 4-0 (w/Mayor voting yes) 


 
Fiscal Impact: None 
 
File Number: 


 
R-193-2018 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
November 27, 2018 


 
 


WHEREAS, Pursuant to the NORDIC RIDGE DEVELOPMENT AGREEMENT (MASTER) and the 


development agreements for Phase III (the “Agreement”), Harvest Farms, LLC (the “Developer”) is 


required to construct certain Public Improvements; and 


 


WHEREAS, the Agreement require Developer to submit the following prior to acceptance of Public 


Improvements: 


 


 A written request by the Developer desiring the City to inspect the Public Improvements, and 


 Valid lien waivers from all persons and entities providing materials or performing work on the 


improvements for which certification is sought, and  


 Provide as-built drawings to the City consisting of four hard copies on paper, one electronic copy 


as a pdf file, and one electronic copy in dwg format or other digital format that is acceptable to the 


City, and 


 Provide to the City all information regarding such improvements that the City requests to comply 


with GASB 34; and 


 Provide a statement from the City Finance Director that all outstanding City costs, including 


engineering and inspection charges, have been paid in full; and  


 Provide a bacteriologically safe water sample is obtained and tested by a certified agency, with the 


report from such agency confirming such testing, and 


 


WHEREAS, Developer has requested that the City accept certain Public Improvements (the “Completed 


Improvements”) for Nordic Ridge Phase III; and 


 


WHEREAS, the City Planning Director and designees have inspected the Completed Improvements and 


found them to be acceptable and ready for acceptance pursuant to the Agreement. 


 


WHEREAS, the Public Works Committee met on November 15, 2018 to consider acceptance of the 


Completed Improvements, and recommended that the Completed Improvements be accepted pursuant to 


the Agreement.  


 


WHEREAS, Developer is responsible for $27,377.33 in park impact fees related to the build out of lot 


134 if the full build out is not completed by December 31, 2020 


 


NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that 


Completed Improvements are accepted pursuant to the Agreements, and authorizes that the construction 


letter of credit provided by Developer may be reduced to the amount of $ 307,377.33 which represents 







the estimated cost to complete the Public Improvements for Phase I, Phase II and Phase III and  


encompasses $27,377.33 in park impact fees related to the build out of lot 134 if not completed by 


December 31, 2020 . 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


                                             


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 


 
 
 


T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2018 PACKETS\11-27-2018\Backup Materials\05a-Public Works Resolution - Nordic 
Ridge Public Improvements-Phase III-amended.docx 







CITY OF STOUGHTON    RODNEY J. SCHEEL 


DEPARTMENT OF      DIRECTOR 


PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT 
381 East Main Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 


 


(608) 873-6619     www.ci.stoughton.wi.us 


 


 


 


 


Date:  November 12, 2018 


 


To:  Public Works Committee  


 


From:  Rodney J. Scheel 


  Director of Planning & Development 


 


Subject: Nordic Ridge Public Improvements 


 


The Public Improvements for Nordic Ridge Phase I, Phase II and Phase III are substantially 


complete.  The remaining work includes punch list corrective work and surface pavement on 


Phase II and Phase III.  The Developer has requested acceptance pursuant to the development 


agreements in place for these phases.  The engineer has prepared an estimate for the cost of 


remaining work and we have increased that by 25% to be held as a Letter of Credit until the 


work is completed.  A resolution is provided and recommended for your consideration.   


 


If you have any questions, please contact me. 


 
 
S:\Planning\RJS\Committees\Public Works Committee  Nordic Ridge Public Improvements-Phase III.docx 



http://www.ci.stoughton.wi.us/





 
Public Works Committee  
Thursday, November 15, 2018 @ 6:00 PM 
Hall of Fame Room, 381 E Main St 
 
Members Present:  Alderpersons Lisa Reeves, Tom Majewski and Matt Bartlett  


Absent/Excused:  


Absent:  Sid Boersma 


Staff:  Mayor Swadley, Public Works Director Brett Hebert and Vickie Erdahl 


Guests:   
 
Call to Order:  Bartlett called the meeting to order 


1) Communications:   Hebert reported:  


 Leaf collection is in progress and will continue until November 30th (weather permitting) 


 Final brush collection was at the end of October. Brush was brought out afterwards and 
these sites were tagged. Still trying different outlets for better communications with 
residents 


 Riverside Park will be completed in the spring of 2019. Crews could not get to the stock pile 
of black dirt due to wet weather 


 Ash trees being removed along the Yahara Trail is nearly completed. 
 


Old Business: 


 


2) Public Works Facility Update:  Hebert reported that December 28th is the completion cut-off 
date.  Currently the walls are being painted, trees and shrubs have been planted and 
electricians and HVAC installer and plumbers are making good progress. The solar panels 
have been installed on the roof. 


3) Reports:   Erdahl stated that street opening permits are still at a consistent level and 986 yard 
waste permits have been sold for the year.  In January the new permits will be ordered 
including updating the permit site sheets to include sales to non-residents. 


 Hebert stated the new street opening permit, which will be titled “Excavation in the Right of 
Way”, is currently being reviewed by city staff and the attorney.  There will be an application 
process before a permit is issued.  The permit will have a pricing structure in place based on 
the size of the project.  A tiered pricing system based on the PASER rating of the affected 
street will also be in place. 


New Business: 


 


4)    Approve September 20, 2018 Meeting Minutes:  Motion by Majewski, seconded by 
Reeves to approve the minutes.  Motion carried 4-0. (Mayor voted yes) 


 


5)    Overview of Public Works Winter Operations:  The committee reviewed the policy. Under 
the category – Salt & Sand Mixture paragraph three there was language that has been 
revised.  City staff will not deliver salt/sand mix to residents. 


 Hebert informed the committee that cul-de-sacs will be done using a loader and that a new 
sand/salt box has been built for city residents to get salt from PW.  When the box is placed at 
the new Public Works Facility there will be a camera monitoring its usage.  In the past, 
contractors have emptied the mixture which is for the city residents. 







 
 Hebert went through the Winter Road and Sidewalk Procedure manual with the group.  Letters 


will be sent out to downtown property owners, much like in years past, do talk about the  


 Mayor Swadley requested staff to present the Power Point of the policy at the next 
Common Council meeting. 


    


6) Stoughton Compost Facility Status Update:  Hebert reported the initial DNR site inspection 
and composting application has been approved.  An application has been submitted for a 
license to compost on the site.  Hebert anticipates getting the actual license before the end of 
the year. 


 The Town of Dunkirk has been notified that the city is not going sign an agreement for 2019 to 
use the Dunkirk yard waste site and that if the township residents would like to use the cities 
new site the charge will be $25.00 for a non-resident permit. 


 Cummins has donated some concrete blocks which will be used at the new site to create 
bunkers for wood, dirt, etc. 


 


7) Discussion and Approval of the 2019 Street Project Sidewalk Installation Pursuant to 
the Sidewalk Installation Policy:  Hebert stated we are having this discussion on sidewalk 
projects earlier so that the city can get finalize project design and engineering to present to the 
public before the end of the year.  This will provide time to get the final bid documents together 
for bidding in early 2019 to hopefully attract more bidders.  Staff recommended to the 
committee the following: 


 1) Patterson St – There is currently sidewalk on the north side of the street.  Sidewalk will be 
installed on the south side of the street per the sidewalk installation policy.  


 2) Monroe St – Sidewalk will be installed to fill any gaps on Monroe St within the construction 
area.  Sidewalk is also recommended to be installed outside of the project area on the east 
side of Monroe St from Lowell to Milwaukee to make sidewalk contiguous.  


 3) Lowell St – There is existing sidewalk on the north side of Lowell St except for the 
easternmost parcel near Page St.  Sidewalk is to be infilled on the one parcel on the north side 
to make sidewalk continuous for the full length of Lowell on the north side.  Due to limited 
right-of-way on the south side of Lowell Street, sidewalk will likely not be incorporated into the 
design on the south side of the street.  Staff recommends adding sidewalk on the west side of 
Page St from Lowell to Milwaukee to make the sidewalk continuous.  


 4) Grant St – (Prospect to Taft) – Grant St from Taft to McKinley is scheduled to be pulverized 
in 2019 and Grant from McKinley to Prospect is scheduled to be reconstructed in 2020 along 
with Prospect.  After further analysis of both segments of Grant St, staff recommends 
combining the two projects into one reconstruction project in 2020 and incorporating sidewalk 
at that time likely incorporating sidewalk on only the west side of the street for this two block 
stretch.  This may allow for better pricing and less disruption to the neighborhood.   


 


 Motion by Bartlett, seconded by Majewski to move forward with staff recommendations 
for the designs of Patterson St (Monroe St to Harrison St), Monroe St (Patterson St to 
Lowell St), Lowell St (Monroe St to Page St) and moving the Grant St project (Taft St to 
McKinley) to 2020 as a reconstruction project.  Motion carried 4-0 (with Mayor voting 
yes). 


 


8) Acceptance of Nordic Ridge Public Improvements – Phase III:  Public Improvements are 
nearly completed for Phases I, II & III of Nordic Ridge. Strand Engineering & city employees 
have inspected the site and developed a list of remaining items (punch list) that will need to be 
completed in the spring.  The reduced letter of credit is more than enough to cover the 
remaining items in the event the developer defaults on this work obligation.  







 
 Motion by Reeves, seconded by Majewski to recommend to the Common Council to 


approve the acceptance of Certain Public Improvement made by Harvest Farms, LLC 
for Nordic Ridge Phase III.  Motion carried 4-0 (with Mayor voting yes). 


 


7) Future Agenda Items:   Minimum Maintenance Standards, Zoning update for parking lots, 
Street Opening Application /Permits – Pricing Structure, Sump pump discharge to right–of-way 
and tree planting for in-fill areas 


 


 Moved by Majewski seconded by Reeves to adjourn the meeting at 7:40 pm.  Motion 
carried 4-0.  Respectfully submitted by Vickie Erdahl Administrative Assistant –. 11/19/18 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2018 PACKETS\11-27-2018\Backup Materials\Harvest Farms Letter of Credit - Phase 3 modification.docx 


1126181520 
 


[Form of letter of credit relating to construction and guarantee of public improvements] 


 


IRREVOCABLE STANDBY LETTER OF CREDIT 


 


Letter of Credit Number:    548 


 


Dated:  December 12, 2018 


 


Applicant: Harvest Farms LLC 


 


Beneficiary: The City of Stoughton, a Wisconsin municipal corporation. 


 


Amount: $ 307,377.33 U.S. Dollars 


 


Expiration Date: April 5, 2019 


 


To the City of Stoughton: 


 


We hereby modify the original letter of credit issued in favor of the City of Stoughton (the 


"City") our Irrevocable Letter of Credit No. 548, in the amount of $ 1,845,625 U. S. Dollars 


to $307,377.33 U.S. Dollars.  This letter of credit is issued to secure the obligations of 


Harvest Farms LLC, to construct and guarantee certain Public Improvements and pay 


impact fees pursuant to the Nordic Ridge Development Agreement (Master) dated 


November 18, 2009, the Agreement for Land Division Improvements Nordic Ridge [Phase 


1] dated May 19, 2016, and the Agreement for Land Division Improvements Nordic Ridge 


[Phase 2] dated May 30, 2017, and the Agreement for Land Division Improvements Nordic 


Ridge [Phase 3] dated March 28, 2018 (collectively the "Development Agreement") that 


also encompasses $27,377.33 in park impact fees related to the build out of lot 134 if not 


completed by December 31, 2020. 


 


This letter of credit shall be payable to the City at any time upon presentation of the 


following: (1) a sight draft drawn on Bank of Deerfield in an amount to which the City is 


entitled under the Development Agreement; (2) an affidavit executed by a person 


authorized by the City stating that the City is entitled to draw on this Letter of Credit 


pursuant to the Development Agreement; and (3) this Letter of Credit.   


 


Partial drawings are permitted. 


 


This Letter of Credit and each extended, renewed or replacement letter of credit shall be 


automatically extended without amendment for a period of one year from its expiration 


date, unless at least 45 days before such expiration date we notify the City in writing that 


the letter of credit will not be extended for an additional one-year period, or that the letter 


of credit will be renewed or replaced by a letter of credit in an amount less than $280,000 







T:\PACKETS\COUNCIL\2018 PACKETS\11-27-2018\Backup Materials\Harvest Farms Letter of Credit - Phase 3 modification.docx 


1126181520 
 


(or such other amount that has been approved in writing by the City), which amount shall 


be specified in such written notice.  Upon receipt of notice that this Letter of Credit or any 


extended, renewed or replacement letter of credit will not be renewed, or will be replaced 


by a letter of credit in an amount that is less than $307,377.33 (or such other amount that 


has been approved in writing by the City), the City may draw upon this or any extended, 


renewed, or replacement letter of credit an amount equal to the letter of credit amount 


required by the Development Agreement. 


 


We hereby engage with you to honor all drafts drawn incompliance with the terms and 


conditions of this Letter of Credit if presented together with the required documents at 867 


Shaul Lane  Deerfield, WI  53531, no later than the close of business on April 5, 2019, the 


date on which this Letter of Credit Expires.   


 


This Letter of Credit shall be governed by the laws of the State of Wisconsin. 


 


Yours very truly, 


Bank of Deerfield 


 


 


 


_____________________________________ 


Benjamin M Mlsna, Vice President 


Bank of Deerfield 





		05a-Public Works Resolution - Nordic Ridge Public Improvements-Phase III-amended.pdf

		05b-Public Works Committee  Nordic Ridge Public Improvements-Phase III.pdf

		05c-PW Min November 15 2018-Revised.pdf

		05d-Harvest Farms Letter of Credit - Phase 3 modification.pdf






CITY OF STOUGHTON, 381 E. Main Street, Stoughton, WI 53589 


 


ORDINANCE OF THE COMMON COUNCIL 


An ordinance amending the zoning classification at 1125 W. Main Street in the City of Stoughton, WI. 


(Lot 1, CSM Attached) 


 
Committee 


Action:    


Plan Commission recommends Council approval 6 – 0  


Fiscal Impact:        


File Number: O -28-2018 First Reading: 


Second Reading: 


November 27, 2018 


December 11, 2018 


 


RECITALS 


 


1. Kathy Kamp, Wisconsin Partnership for Housing Development (the “Applicant”) has 


applied to change the zoning classification of the property at 1125 W. Main Street from 


SR-6 Single Family Residential to MR-10 Multi-Family Residential.     


 


2. The applicant proposes changing the zoning classification of these lands to allow 4-unit 


residential multi-family structure to be constructed. 


 


3. On November 12, 2018, the City of Stoughton Planning Commission held a public 


hearing regarding Applicant’s proposed zoning changes.  The public hearing was 


preceded by the publication of a class 2 notice, and other notice required by law.  


 


4. The Planning Commission found that the proposed zoning changes are consistent with 


the City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan, and recommend that the zoning change be 


approved as presented.   


 


5. The Common Council has considered the proposed zoning change, the Plan 


Commission’s recommendation and finds that the proposed zoning change is consistent 


with the City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan. 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


ORDINANCE 


 


The Common Council of the City of Stoughton, Dane County, Wisconsin do ordain as follows: 


 







Section 1. The recitals set forth above are material to and are incorporated in this ordinance 


as if set forth in full. 


   


Section 2. Subject to the conditions set forth in section 3 below, the zoning classification of 


the property at 1125 W. Main Street shall be changed from SR-6 Single Family Residential to MR-10 


Multi-Family Residential. 


 


Section 3. This ordinance shall take effect upon publication pursuant to law as presented. 


 


 


 


 


Dates 


Council Adopted:     


 


Mayor Approved:             


       Tim Swadley, Mayor 


Published:     


 


Attest:               


        Holly Licht, City Clerk  


 


  
 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


  


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


S:\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\1125 W. Main Street Rezoning Ordinance.doc 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 
 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 


 















PUBLIC HEARING NOTICE


The City of Stoughton Planning Commission will hold a Public Hearing on Monday November 12, 2018
at 6:00 o’clock p.m., or as soon after as the matter may be heard, in the Council Chambers, Public Safety
Building, 321 S. Fourth Street, Second Floor, Stoughton, Wisconsin, 53589, to consider a proposed
rezoning of the following parcel of land located at 1125 W. Main Street, Stoughton, WI, owned by
Wisconsin Partnership for Housing Development, Inc. The property described below is requested to be
rezoned from SR-4 Single Family Residential to MR-10 Multi-Family Residential. The property is
currently more fully described below:
Parcel number: 281/0511-071-8065-2
Legal Description: LOT 1 CSM 14839 CS104/56&57-6/22/2018 DESCR AS SEC 7-5-11 PRT
NE1/4NE1/4 (0.398 ACRES)


This property description is for tax purposes. It may be abbreviated. For the complete legal description
please refer to the deed.


Additional information including a location map can be found at: http://stoughtoncitydocs.com/planning-
commission/


For questions related to this notice contact Michael Stacey at 608-646-0421.


Michael Stacey
Zoning Administrator


Published October 18, 2018 and October 25, 2018 HUB


S:\MPS-Shared\Ordinances\Rezonings\Rezoning Notices\Planning Rez. 1125 W. Main Street.doc























Sources: Esri, HERE, Garmin, Intermap, increment P Corp., GEBCO, USGS, FAO, NPS, NRCAN, GeoBase, IGN, Kadaster NL, Ordnance Survey, Esri Japan,
METI, Esri China (Hong Kong), swisstopo, © OpenStreetMap contributors, and the GIS User Community, Parcels


309 Pine Street CSM


Tax Parcels
May 3, 2018


 
 


0 125 25062.5 Feet
1 inch = 100 feet



mstacey

Arrow







CITY OF STOUGHTON RODNEY J. SCHEEL
DEPARTMENT OF PLANNING & DEVELOPMENT DIRECTOR
381 East Main Street, Stoughton, WI. 53589 (608) 873-6619
www.cityofstoughton.com/planning fax: (608) 873-5519


October 30, 2018


Wisconsin Partnership for Housing Development
Kathy Kamp
2045 Atwood Avenue, Suite 101A
Madison, WI. 53704


Dear Ms. Kamp:


I have completed a review of the proposed rezoning request at 1125 W. Main Street, Stoughton, WI.
This request is planned for a public hearing at the November 12, 2018 Planning Commission
meeting of which you will receive notice. You and/or your representative are required to attend the
meeting to answer questions.


1. The property at 1125 W. Main Street is currently zoned SR-6 – Single Family Residential. The
request is to rezone the property to MR-10. The MR-10 zoning classification will allow up
to 10 residential units per acre. The square footage of the site will allow up to 4 residential
units. The City Comprehensive Plan Future Land Use Map indicates Planned Mixed Use
for this property which allows multi-family residential.


2. A public hearing notice has been sent to all property owners within 300 feet of the subject
property and the notice will be published twice with the last notice at least 10 days prior to the
public hearing.


3. If the rezoning is approved, a site plan review and approval by the City Plan Commission will
be necessary for the project to move forward.


If you have any questions, please contact me at 608-646-0421


Sincerely,
City of Stoughton


Michael P. Stacey


Michael P. Stacey
Zoning Administrator/Assistant Planner


s:\planning\property log folder\1125 w. main street\rezoning review letter.doc





		06a-1125 W. Main Street Rezoning Ordinance.pdf

		06b-1125 W. Main Street Rezoning.pdf






 
City of Stoughton, 381 E Main Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION OF THE COMMON COUNCIL  


Authorizing and directing the proper City official(s) to allocate up to $2,000 from the contingency fund for 


article in 2019 edition of the Madison Region Economic Development magazine 


Committee Action: 


 


Finance Committee approved 4-1 on November 13, 2018 


   
File Number: 


 
R-194-2018 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
November 27, 2018 


 
WHEREAS, the Finance Committee met on November 13, 2018 and recommended that the Council 


approve partnering with the following entities to participate in the 2019 edition of the Madison Regional 


Economic Partnership Livability magazine:  


 


 McFarland State Bank 


 Stoughton Hospital 


 Stoughton Utilities 


 RHD Properties 


 Tom Matson Homes  


 Stoughton Area School District  


 


WHEREAS, the Finance Committee approved the total 2019 general fund costs not to exceed $2000; 


now therefore  


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton that the proper city official (s) 


are hereby directed and authorized to allocate up to $2000 from the 2019 contingency fund for 


participation in the 2019 edition of the Madison Regional Economic Partnership magazine.  


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


          


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 
 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     


 







decK decK decK decK decK decK decK decK decK decK decK decK 


SPONSORED BY THE ????????????????????????


COVERLNE IS HERE


CTY/STE NAMEI
20?? EDITION • livability.com/???????


Economic Development


WoRld-class ReseaRcH, oUtstanding QUality oF liFe dRaW investMent, talent


SPONSORED BY MADISON REGION ECONOMIC PARTNERSHIP


GROWTH CURVE


MADISON REGION
2018 EDITION • livability.com/madison-region


Economic Development
GLOBAL POSITIONING


Region sits at the 
crossroads of 


international business 


 TALENT CONNECTIONS
Collaborative programs 


show career pathways 
for students


 



http://www.livability.com/madison-region



		07a-R-194-2018 Allocating funds for participation in the MAD REP Magazine.pdf

		07b-MAD Rep Cover.pdf






 
City of Stoughton, 381 E Main Street, Stoughton WI  53589 


 
 


RESOLUTION FROM THE REDEVELPMENT AUTHORIDY TO THE  


STOUGHTON COMMON COUNCIL 


 
Authorizing and directing the City of Stoughton Redevelopment Authority to move forward with 


developing a master plan for the Central Business District. 


Previous Action: 


 


Redevelopment Authority 


Approved 6-0 


   
File Number: 


 
R-195-2018 


 
Date Introduced: 


 
November 27, 2018 


 
WHEREAS, the RDA has authority in TID #5 which includes the eastern part of Main Street and overlaps 


with TID #4 which includes Main St. from Page to the railroad tracks, and 


 


WHEREAS, the RDA is in the process of redeveloping TID #8 which is 2 blocks from Main Street and 


will impact the Central Business District, and 


 


WHEREAS, with the planned redevelopment of the riverfront there comes many opportunities and 


challenges.  There is an opportunity to redevelop the eastern part of Main Street along with continued 


improvements for our downtown.  There will be challenges to address such as traffic and parking.  It 


makes sense to take a global view and establish a plan to address challenges and take advantage of 


opportunities, and 


 


WHEREAS, the City of Stoughton's Comprehensive Land Use Plan identifies the need to develop a 


Downtown Master Plan, and 


 


WHEREAS, in the spring election of 2015 78% of the citizens directed the city government to focus on 


revitalizing our downtown, and 


 


WHEREAS, there is money to do planning in TID #4 and the RDA has authority to redevelop in this 


area, now therefore 


 


BE IT RESOLVED by the Common Council of the City of Stoughton the RDA seeks to form a 


committee in consultation with the City Council to develop a Master Plan for the Downtown Business 


District whose boundaries will be defined from Page Street to the Railroad tracks on Main Street and 2-3 


blocks off of Main Street to the north and south.  


 


 


Council Action:         Adopted     Failed Vote     


 


 


Mayoral Action:        Accept     Veto  


 


 


          


Tim Swadley, Mayor    Date 







 


 


 


Council Action:           Override  Vote     







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Three: Land Use 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   49 


B. LAND USE GOALS, OBJECTIVES, AND POLICIES  
Goal: Enhance and maintain the City’s unique neighborhoods.  
Objectives: 
a. Promote redevelopment of lands with existing infrastructure and public services; promote maintenance 


and rehabilitation of existing residential, commercial, and industrial structures. 
b. Design livable neighborhoods in Stoughton that are pedestrian oriented and are generally located within a 


ten-minute walk (approximately 1/3 mile) of a public park or open space area. 
c. Discourage high traffic volumes and speeds in residential neighborhoods. 
d. Develop and enforce property maintenance codes and outdoor storage codes to maintain neighborhood 


quality and tax base stability. 
e. Design new neighborhoods so that they are centered around civic spaces such as parks, schools, 


churches, monuments, and similar features. 
f. Prohibit incompatible land uses (e.g. high traffic generators, noisy or unaesthetic uses) from locating 


within or next to residential neighborhoods. 
g. Encourage the preservation of historically and architecturally significant structures in Stoughton. 
h. Protect and enhance Stoughton’s economic independence. 


Goal: Enhance and maintain the City’s downtown area. 
Objectives: 
a. Provide for mixed use development in the downtown area. 
b. Encourage rehabilitation, redevelopment, and infill development of older areas in the downtown in a 


manner which respect’s Stoughton’s character, is compatible with surrounding uses, and improves overall 
appearance. 


c. Provide for continued public access along the Yahara River. 
d. Protect the unique quality of the downtown by requiring buildings to be two- to four-story with a zero lot 


line setback requirement. 


Goal: Maintain the City as a predominantly single family community. 
Objectives: 
a. In each new Planned Neighborhood development, incorporate neighborhood design standards to provide for 


a minimum of 65 percent single family dwelling units, a maximum of 15 percent two family and town-
house dwelling units, and a maximum of 20 percent multi-family apartment dwelling units.  


Goal: Preserve and establish visually attractive development. 
Objectives: 
a. Preserve and re-establish attractive gateways and entryways into the community. 
b. Establish high design standards in the City’s Zoning Ordinance for buildings, landscaping, signage, exte-


rior lighting, building materials, and parking lots. 


Goal: Create an efficient and sustainable development pattern. 
Objectives: 
a. Ensure that conflicts between neighboring land uses are minimized with logical land use transitions and 


bufferyards. 
b. Ensure that a desirable balance and distribution of land uses is achieved. 
c. Use existing public facilities to serve new development whenever possible. 
d. Require all new development within Stoughton’s long-term growth area to be served with the full array of 


municipal services, including sanitary sewer, storm sewer, municipal water, police, and fire, and garbage 
collection service. 



hlicht

Highlight







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Three: Land Use 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   51 


shall also provide a development phasing timetable so the City can coordinate capital improve-
ments with the development of the area. 


c. Where appropriate in Planned Neighborhood areas, the City encourages the utilization of traditional 
neighborhood design concepts as new neighborhoods are platted and developed. Traditional 
neighborhoods typically include a full range of housing types (single family, duplex, multi-family, 
townhouse); parks, plazas and public squares; civic buildings and civic art; bicycle and pedestrian 
paths/walkways; institutional uses (churches, schools, community centers, etc.) that serve as 
neighborhood focal points; and neighborhood scale commercial, service and office uses. The 
City shall work with property owners and developers to create traditional neighborhood plans. It 
should be understood that in traditional neighborhoods, different types of land use, such as sin-
gle family and multi-family residences, are not interspersed in a random manner, but instead are 
located in a logical, compatible manner.  


d. The City should consider the creation of a special traditional neighborhood zoning district to al-
low for implementation of the traditional neighborhood design concept. 


3. Land Use Planning Policies 
a. The City shall strive for compatibility of adjacent land uses by requiring site plan review for all 


multi-family residential, commercial, office, industrial, recreational, and institutional land uses. 
b. Incompatible land uses shall be buffered from each other through the strategic use of plant ma-


terials, decorative fences, walls, or berms. 
c. The City intends to require new development and redevelopment projects to include high quality 


building design, landscaping, and signage. Existing ordinances shall be amended as needed to en-
sure that this policy is implemented in a fair and consistent manner.  


d. Major activity areas such as building entrances, service and loading areas, parking lots, and trash 
receptacle storage areas shall be oriented away from less intensive land uses to the greatest degree 
possible. 


e. The City shall utilize the site plan review process to require that the outdoor lighting of parking 
and storage areas be designed in such a manner that it shall not shine onto adjacent properties or 
public rights of way. 


f. The City strongly encourages shared driveway access, shared parking spaces, and coordinated site 
plan designs in order to avoid the creation of new commercial strips. 


g. The City should protect the visual quality of major community thoroughfares by requiring all de-
velopment and redevelopment along these entry corridors to include site plan and design review. 


h. The City should amend its Neighborhood Business zoning district to reduce its minimum park-
ing and minimum greenspace requirements. 


4. Downtown Development Policies 
a. The City should require that new and renovated buildings adjacent to the river or those undergo-


ing major renovation have two fronts (street side and riverside), with both fronts meeting the 
aesthetic standards for the downtown. 


b. The City encourages public-private partnership as a way to promote investment in the down-
town area and to spur downtown revitalization. 


5. Planned Mixed Use Policies  
a. Although six future land use categories are enabled by the Planned Mixed Use category, the 


City is not compelled to approve zoning map amendments simply because they are con-
sistent those six potential categories. In reviewing zoning map amendment requests, the City 
will consider the following factors: highest and best use, adjacent land uses, the presence of 
sensitive environmental features, existing and future traffic patterns, timing concerns related 
to “leapfrog” development, the City’s desired to remain a predominately single family com-
munity, and the goals of Planned Mixed Use developments (described under b., below). Fur-



hlicht

Highlight







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Three: Land Use 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   54 


 Planned Neighborhood: This future land use category is a carefully planned mixture of predominantly 
Single Family Residential development, combined with one or more of the following land use categories: 
Two Family Residential, Multi-Family Residential, Neighborhood Office, Neighborhood Business, Institutional, and Rec-
reation or Public Open Space. This category is intended to accommodate both conventional and Traditional 
Neighborhood Design (TND) forms of “full-service” neighborhood development. To implement a key 
City objective, development within these neighborhoods should contain a minimum of 65 percent single 
family dwelling units, a maximum of 15 percent two family and/or townhomes, and a maximum of 20 
percent multi-family dwellings. 


 Environmental Corridors: This future land use category comprises continuous systems of  open space 
that include environmentally sensitive lands and natural resources requiring protection from disturbance 
and development, and lands needed for open space and recreational use, based mainly on drainageways, 
stream channels, floodplains, wetlands, and other resource lands and features. This category is further de-
scribed in Chapter Two: Agricultural, Natural, and Cultural Resources.  


1. Land Use Recommendations within the Current City Limits 
This Plan generally proposes minor changes to the existing land use pattern within the City’s 2017 
municipal limits. This Plan does, however, propose detailed land use recommendations for the unde-
veloped portions within the City limits. In addition, this Plan identifies opportunities for redevelop-
ment and rehabilitation within the Downtown area, infill development on parcels previously passed 
over, and reuse of key properties located along the gateway corridors into the community. 


Central Business Area  
(Downtown Stoughton) 
With existing commercial uses on the west 
and east sides of the City, residential uses on 
all sides, planned residential and commercial 
growth on the west and east sides, and 
planned expansion of employment uses on 
the north and south, Downtown Stoughton’s 
central location is well-positioned to continue 
to attract civic, retail and service uses and re-
main the vital heart of the community over 
the planning period. Downtown Stoughton is 
proposed to remain intact with a mixture of 
land uses under the Central Business designa-
tion (generally encompasses all parcels be-
tween Page Street and the railroad tracks east 
of 7th Street, and from Jefferson Street to Washington Street). The Central Business planning category 
reflects the City’s historic pattern of pedestrian-oriented indoor commercial, office, institutional, resi-
dential, and urban open space uses with streetscaping and low-key signage. Important community 
character elements that contribute to the Central Business area include urban form, density and inten-
sity of development, building scale, building location, architecture, signage, public furnishings and 
spaces, and landscaping. (See “Community Character Planning” in the next section for more com-
plete description of these elements). 


To maintain the health and vitality of Downtown Stoughton, creative and coordinated planning and 
marketing will be required. This Plan recommends the preparation of a downtown master plan for 
the downtown area. A downtown master plan will assure the desired character is maintained, appro-
priate uses and strategies for redevelopment of key sites are identified, historically and architecturally 
significant buildings are not destroyed in the name of redevelopment, and tools to promote redevel-
opment (e.g., TIF districts, zoning district amendment, brownfield cleanup procedures) are explored 
and implemented. This Plan recommends the following rehabilitation and redevelopment principles 
be considered in any downtown master planning effort: 


Downtown Stoughton 



hlicht

Highlight







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Three: Land Use 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   55 


 Promote the expansion, retention, and upgrading of specialty retail, restaurants, financial ser-
vices, offices, professional services, and community uses through marketing, investment and in-
centive strategies. 


 Encourage the enhancement of downtown parking lots by installing landscaping (trees, plants, 
berms). 


 Link the downtown district to the Yahara River, through the development of pedestrian paths 
and the redevelopment of parcels between the river and Main Street.  


 Encourage redevelopment within the downtown area, particularly around City Hall and along the 
rail corridor, to increase foot traffic and provide a “built-in” market for goods and services in the 
Downtown. The adaptive reuse of the older tobacco warehouses along the rail corridor into resi-
dential housing should be explored.  


 Continue to renovate and restore historically significant buildings along Main Street and within 
the Main Street Commercial Historic District. 


 Continue to retain community facilities in the downtown area, including City Hall, library, and 
post office, while supporting events in the area such as a farmers’ market. 


Detailed Downtown Design Standards include: 


 Buildings placed adjacent to the street right-of-way, or with small, carefully-designed plazas for 
gathering or dining between the building and right-of-way; 


 Multi-storied height – with careful, stepped-down height transitions to adjacent neighborhood 
areas; 


 High-quality building materials strongly featuring masonry and glass; 
 Regularly-spaced building openings for doors and windows that establish a rhythm that is in har-


mony with nearby buildings; 
 Careful treatment of all four sides of the building, with special attention devoted to street 


frontages and facades which face onto parking areas, sidewalks and alleys; and 
 A transition of land uses within most buildings from retail and/or service uses on the ground 


floors to office to residential on upper floors. Where buildings are dedicated primarily to residen-
tial uses, the ground floor should be devoted to commercial uses. Where ground floor commer-
cial uses are not provided, the remaining area should be devoted to gathering spaces and/or resi-
dent services. Any ground floor residential should be elevated a minimum of four feet above ad-
jacent sidewalks and streets for privacy. 


These attributes are illustrated on the following page. 


The appropriate zoning districts to implement the Central Business future land use category include the 
Central Business (CB), Multi-Family Residential – 10 (MR-10), Multi-Family Residential – 24 (MR-
24), Institutional (I), and Planned Development (PD).  


Long-Term Downtown Transportation Facility Considerations: 


Consistent with Dane County’s Land Use and Transportation Plan and Transport 2020 Plan, this Plan rec-
ommends that the City identify and reserve a location in Downtown Stoughton for a commuter rail 
station that would link the community to the Madison urban area and surrounding destinations. 
Around this commuter rail station, the City should plan for senior housing, live/work incubator de-
velopment, and a park-and-ride lot, with pedestrian and bicycle routes spanning out from the station 
to all corners of the community. Until such time when commuter rail service is realized, this station 
and park-and-ride lot could serve as a bus transfer point for a regional express bus system. 


  



hlicht

Highlight







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Three: Land Use 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   56 


Figure 2: Downtown Design Guidelines Illustration 
 
  







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Three: Land Use 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   57 


Single Family Residential Areas 
Historic single family neighborhoods surrounding the downtown area are proposed to remain intact. 
Within the historic core neighborhoods, scattered areas of existing two family dwellings are planned 
for Single Family Residential, as they are encouraged to convert back to single family residences. Over 
the planning period, the City should monitor any growing trend to convert existing single family resi-
dences into two family units, as frequent conversions may change neighborhood character. 


Building and yard maintenance and rehabilitation will be a key concern in the central single family 
residential area over the planning period. Data from the 2014 American Community Survey reports 
that over 20 percent of Stoughton’s housing stock was built before 1940, and most of these homes 
are located in this central residential area. The City should seek assistance from the County, State and 
local lenders to assist homeowners and landlords with rehabilitation projects. The City should also 
work with the Stoughton Landmarks Commission and property owners to protect and celebrate his-
torically significant residences within the community. The mature trees that line most of the streets in 
the central residential area should also be preserved to the greatest extent possible. 


The appropriate zoning districts to implement the Single Family Residential future land use category in-
clude all four of the City’s Single Family Residential zoning districts (SR-3, SR-4, SR-5, and SR-6) and 
the Planned Development (PD) zoning district. 


Two Family Residential Areas 
Outside of the neighborhoods in the City’s historic core, scattered areas of Two Family Residential uses 
within the City are proposed to remain intact. Future two family development is recommended to be 
sprinkled within single family residential areas. The appropriate zoning districts to implement the Two 
Family Residential future land use category include the Two Family Residential (TR-6) zoning district, 
all four of the Single Family Residential zoning districts (SR-3, SR-4, SR-5, and SR-6), and the 
Planned Development (PD) zoning district. 


Multi-Family Residential Areas 
Map 6 shows scattered areas of Multi-Family Residential development within the current City limits. 
These are mainly areas that are already developed or are committed to being developed with multiple 
family residences. The appropriate zoning districts to implement the Multi-Family Residential future 
land use category include Multi-Family Residential – 10 (MR-10), Multi-Family Residential – 24 (MR-
24), Two Family Residential (TR-6), all four of the Single Family Residential zoning districts (SR-3, 
SR-4, SR-5, and SR-6), and the Planned Development (PD) zoning district. 


Neighborhood Business and Neighborhood Office Areas  
Most small-scale business and office uses within the City are planned to be located in Downtown 
Stoughton, along W. Main Street. There are also small spots of Neighborhood Office areas recommended 
along Vernon Street and Neighborhood Business recommended along E. Main Street near Amundson 
Parkway. Neighborhood Business and Neighborhood Office areas should be easily accessible from surround-
ing neighborhoods by sidewalks and bicycle routes. It is imperative that these areas contain high 
quality development that blends with the scale, site arrangement, and architectural style of the adja-
cent residences – including residential building materials, roof forms, generous landscaping and mod-
est exterior signage and lighting. 


The appropriate zoning district to implement the Neighborhood Business future land use category is the 
Neighborhood Business (NB) zoning district. The appropriate zoning district to implement the 
Neighborhood Office future land use category is the Neighborhood Office (NO) zoning district. Both 
future land use categories could also be implemented with the Institutional (I) or Planned Develop-
ment (PD) zoning districts. 


Planned Business Areas  
Within the City, all existing highway commercial uses along USH 51 are expected to remain. This 
Plan does not envision new commercial strip development occurring at any location in the City. 







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Three: Land Use 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   74 


3. Strategic Development Areas 
Wisconsin’s Comprehensive Planning Law recommends that attention be given to the character of 
development, as well as to the land use type. This City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan uses land use 
categories on the Existing and Future Land Use Maps (Maps 3 and 6) that are designed to make 
strong recommendations about the character, as well as the type of land use. In addition to this strat-
egy, this Plan makes recommendations for key Community Gateways and Corridors, and Strategic 
Growth Areas, as discussed immediately below.  


Wisconsin’s Comprehensive Plan-
ning Law calls for the designation 
of “strategic development areas” 
where special planning considera-
tions should be brought to bear. 
This Plan identifies four types of 
these strategic development areas: 


 Downtown Area (as discussed 
above); 


 Redevelopment & Rehabilita-
tion Areas; 


 Infill Development Areas; 
and, 


 Peripheral Development  
Areas 


Wisconsin’s comprehensive plan-
ning law requires comprehensive plans to identify “areas that will enable the development and rede-
velopment of lands with existing infrastructure and municipal, State, and utility services, where prac-
tical, or that will encourage efficient development patterns that are both contiguous to existing devel-
opment and at densities which will have relatively low municipal, State governmental, and utility 
costs.”  


As shown on Map 7: Community Character and Strategic Redevelopment Areas, there are three types 
of Strategic Development Areas recommended in this Plan in addition to the Downtown. 


Redevelopment and Rehabilitation Areas  
Central Stoughton Revitalization 
This Plan envisions focusing on the area of land on the east side of the Yahara River, generally 
bounded by Division Street to the north, Riverside Drive to the south, and the railroad tracks to the 
east. A primary initiative in this area would involve establishing pedestrian connections to key sites in 
the City’s downtown, riverfront, and historic neighborhoods.  Building off of what has already been 
accomplished in the downtown, this area should create attractive pedestrian environments, character-
ized by coordinated pedestrian investments, such as street furniture, decorative lighting, unique pav-
ing materials, generous landscaping, etc. As the City makes further public infrastructure improve-
ments in this area, complete bicycle and pedestrian facilities should be provided, especially on the 
streets involved in the loops described above. Other investments in this area could involve sidewalk 
maintenance and replacement, aggressive street tree replacement, or landscaped medians (potentially 
supported by an “adopt a median” program).  


These investments could be applied to several interconnected walking loops. An outer loop would 
provide connections between Stoughton Hospital, Mandt Park, Riverside Park, River Bluff Middle 
School, and Downtown. This should generally run along Church Street, Academy Street, Mandt 


Redevelopment of aging, functionally obsolete industrial buildings  
is called for within Strategic Development Areas. 



hlicht

Highlight



hlicht

Highlight



hlicht

Highlight



hlicht

Highlight



hlicht

Highlight







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Three: Land Use 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   75 


Parkway, Riverside Drive, Page Street, Forton 
Street, Division Street, and Ridge Street. Inner 
loops would provide connections between Main 
Street, downtown neighborhoods, City Hall and 
other municipal facilities, including the historic 
powerhouse building, riverfront redevelopment 
sites, rail corridor redevelopment sites, and the 
outer loop. Division Street (south of Forton 
Street), Fourth Street, Seventh Street, North 
Street, Main Street, and South Street are all rec-
ommended to be included as part of the inner 
loops. 


The outer loop would connect to adjoining 
neighborhoods to the west, south and east. The 
north side of the loop could also connect to 
parks and greenspaces along the riverfront. 
Loops and pedestrian routes could potentially 
be extended to other Stoughton destinations. 
For example, the outer loop could be extended 
to Cooper’s Causeway, west to Wilson Street, 
and ultimately link to Stoughton High School. 
The pedestrian route could also continue north 
to Cooper’s Causeway and connect to employment destinations in Industrial Park North. 


This concept takes advantage of Stoughton’s top assets: its strong downtown and unique riverfront. 
Ensuring walkable, attractive connections to the City’s downtown would make the historic core an 
even better place to live. It could also bring new life to the aging, but appealing neighborhoods sur-
rounding the downtown and along the riverfront. These affordable areas have great potential and 
could easily become highly desirable neighborhoods for employees of Stoughton Hospital, area 
school teachers, and others who want to live in a walkable neighborhood that is near their job, as well 
as shopping, dining, and entertainment options. Providing a name for the central Stoughton neigh-
borhood would help foster an identity and provide a recognizable way to describe the area to locals 
and visitors. Prioritizing central Stoughton will create a more livable city, directly supporting the 
City’s goals of attracting new residents and quality employers. 


Industrial  
Aging warehousing and industrial areas immediately south and southeast of the downtown are ripe 
for redevelopment. Unlike the downtown, which is envisioned as experiencing moderate levels of 
rehabilitation, these areas will likely require a more organized and extensive redevelopment effort, 
including the creation of a tax increment financing district, as described in Chapter 7. The City’s Re-
development Authority (RDA) is playing a role in this effort by acquiring land as it becomes availa-
ble. In early 2017, the RDA had plans to purchase the MillFab site, a former lumber processing com-
pany located along the Yahara River opposite of Mandt Park, immediately south of the downtown. 
The property includes several buildings with little potential for adaptive reuse, and some environ-
mental cleanup will be needed.  This nearly six-acre site represents a major opportunity for the City, 
as the site is part of 16 total acres along the riverfront that are planned for redevelopment. Uses 
should be consistent with the City’s 2009 Rail Corridor Neighborhood Plan. The preferred develop-
ment concept detailed in that plan includes recommendations for light industrial development, com-
mercial and commercial/ industrial flex space, live/work space and mixed use development, residen-
tial, historic structures, and public space and infrastructure.  


Example of pedestrian improvements recommended to be 
expanded throughout central Stoughton. 







City of Stoughton Comprehensive Plan Chapter Seven: Economic Development 


 


Adopted July 11, 2017   145 


C. ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT RECOMMENDATIONS 
This section of the Plan provides key recommendations for economic development strategies in the City. 


1. Advance Downtown Area Redevelopment and Revitalization Efforts 
Public participation during this planning process, as well as the City’s past comprehensive plans, have 
called for continued downtown area redevelopment and revitalization. The partnership of the City and 
property owners has generally been successful along Main Street. However, several opportunities of revi-
talization and redevelopment remain along the USH 51 corridor as a whole – particularly in the rail corri-
dor area and certain spots along the USH 51 west corridor where infill development opportunities exist, 
and several large scale strip commercial developments are aging poorly and are in need of rehabilitation or 
redevelopment. In addition to these Main Street areas, two large areas of redevelopment are designated in 
this Plan – for the industrial and housing area between the Downtown and the Yahara River. (See Map 7) 


Experiences in the City, and around the country, clearly indicate that the redevelopment and rehabilita-
tion sites identified on Map 7 do not redevelop themselves – even in places like Shorewood Hills along 
University Avenue or in downtown Middleton – with their proximity to high traffic counts and high-in-
come wage earners. Instead, careful planning, site assessment, public-private partnerships, redevelopment 
incentives, and persistence over a number of years are required. Proactive Landmarks Commission, Plan 
Commission, Common Council, and Redevelopment Authority (RDA) involvement is critical, as are co-
ordination with property owners, neighborhood organizations and area businesses. To guide such efforts, 
a carefully crafted sequence of steps and redevelopment tools are needed, followed by an integrated set of 
implementation activities. A Redevelopment Plan should be prepared for each of these areas, and would 
serve as the primary coordination mechanism.  


Typically, this type of detailed planning and implementation process includes: 


 Evaluating the planning area’s condition including size, visibility, viewsheds, access, building quality, 
existing use viability, adjacent land uses, topographic or environmental constraints, brownfield site 
assessment and existing infrastructure and amenities. 


 Conducting a regional and local economic opportunities analysis to focus on the City’s location, 
amenities, and business mix, as well as the assessment of the regional factors such as economics, 
transportation patterns and intergovernmental relationships. (This element can be copied from one 
area the next.) 


 Identifying goals and objectives for the redevelopment area through cooperative efforts with the pri-
vate property owners and other key stakeholders. This step also typically identifies and prioritizes re-
development sites within the planning area. 


 Conducting a market assessment for the redevelopment site to determine the role of the site within 
the marketplace, provide demographic trade area information to assist in the solicitation of potential 
developers or site users, and identify the range of specific issues and challenges to site redevelop-
ment. 


 Preparing a redevelopment strategy and district concept plan map that identifies the highest and best 
land uses, site characteristics, design approaches, and implementation strategies for the planning area, 
with particular attention to priority redevelopment sites.  


 Aggressively pursuing implementation through techniques such as adoption of a statutory redevelop-
ment plan; establishment of a redevelopment tax increment financing district; possible brownfield 
remediation; possible site acquisition, consolidation, and demolition; and developer recruitment. 


The graphic on the following page outlines a redevelopment planning and implementation process that 
has proven successful on numerous projects in comparable situations in the Midwest. 



hlicht

Highlight







23Central City Master Plan


Downtown


OVERVIEW


Waukesha’s Downtown is increasingly recognized for 
its high-value, high-energy urban life-style.  Unlike 
comparable cities, Waukesha’s Downtown escaped 
the widespread urban renewal and demolition that 
plagued many similar districts from the 1960s through 
the 1990s.   


Whatever the reason — economic, historical, or 
political — the Downtown has been newly energized 
and will continue its transformation through the next 
decades.  The goals in this Plan will facilitate that 
transformation, increase the value and enhance the 
stability of the Downtown and Central City.


The system of Downtown streets reflects multiple 
decisions regarding traffic, parking, signage, 
public places, development and streetscape.  This 
incremental pattern of decision-making has created 
a rich diversity of visual experiences accompanied by 
equally diverse social and economic activities.   Such 
a collection of experiences and activities is often 
referred to as an “urban life-style” that many other 
cities desire but cannot achieve.  This rich milieu of 
people and places must be maintained and improved 


Goals & urban DesiGn


Figure 36. Birdseye Photo of Downtown Waukesha, looking southFigure 35. Nickell Building, Downtown Waukesha







24 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


if it is to reach the next level of quality and value.  
Maintenance and improvement must simultaneously 
address interrelated elements including signage, 
public places, parking, circulation, and streetscape.   


Many communities address these elements as 
separate “subsystems.”  In Downtown Waukesha, 
improvements to each of these subsystems must be 
addressed in a coordinated fashion, such that they are 
balanced collectively.  An increase in the performance, 
effectiveness and value in one subsystem, should not 
lead to a significant decrease in another.


Balance circulation modes


Movement of pedestrians, vehicles, and cyclists 
should be balanced and integrated.  Improving multi-
modal circulation requires changes in streetscape and 
street design.  This might include uncluttering and 
widening pedestrian walkways (where possible) and 
new traffic calming features in key pedestrian zones 
(e.g. schools, parking, public places).  


Create a traffic loop or “triangle” 
that defines Downtown as a district


In addition to balancing different modes of circulation, 
vehicular traffic changes should be designed to 
establish a coherent, three-sided circulation “triangle” 
or loop around the Downtown district (Figure 37).  
This circulation triangle will help define and promote 
access and associated business activity.  


Increase the value and pedestrian 
use of public places and streets


Waukesha should continue its commitment to 
strong, comprehensive maintenance and upgrading 
of sidewalks, streets, public areas and streetscape 
elements (lighting, paving, plantings, and amenities).  
At the same time, activities in streets and public 
places should be increased, especially through 
the promotion of additional outdoor dining and 
programs/events.


Improve parking


Parking issues pervade almost all discussions of 
Downtown value.  An analysis of parking issues and 
opportunities is discussed later, including parking 
counts, restrictions, and new opportunities (Figure 
38).  The primary problem is not the total supply of 
parking but the distribution and patterns of use.  
Waukesha needs several types of improvements 
including: better signage for new visitors and 
customers; policies that discourage inappropriate use 
of retail parking by employees, office occupants, and 
residents; support for new residential parking; and 
management policies that accommodate the different 
use patterns for different seasons/events, times of 
the day, and days of the week.  


Improve signage


Downtown Waukesha needs improved signage for 
business identification, advertising, pedestrian and 
vehicular circulation, parking, and general visual 
quality.  Signage needs go beyond conventional 
wayfinding studies and recommendations.  Changes 
in signage should help define Downtown as a 
“distinctive” subarea with clear but permeable 
borders (that is, signage should be used to define 
the edges of the Downtown “triangle”).  Signage 
should remain diverse, but it should address the 
comprehensive needs for businesses, residents, 
visitors, employees and others.


Figure 37. Goal 1 - Issues and Opportunities


GOal #1: COmplEtE 
stREEts


Design a complete, 
integrated and coherent 
street system that creates 
a positive experience when 
walking, parking, cycling, 
and driving in Downtown.







25Central City Master Plan


ImplEmENtatION 
OF GOal #1


1. Integrated Street Master Plan


Create an integrated public place and street master 
plan that will coordinate and phase all of the actions 
needed to achieve this goal.  The framework for the 
integrated street master plan should incorporate the 
other components of this Goal.


2. Define the Downtown “Triangle”


2.1 Consider the redesign of specific traffic control 
features (including potential roundabouts) 
that define the circulation triangle around the 
Downtown District.


2.2 Develop streetscape concepts specifically 
for the outer edge of the Downtown, along 
the proposed triangle or loop consisting 
of St. Paul, Barstow, and Wisconsin.  This 
streetscape should accommodate new 
parking options along the loop, as well as new 
kiosks and gateway features.


2.3 The traffic loop should include clear signage 
for entering and leaving the Downtown 
district, public parking locations, and other 
important landmarks. 


2.4 The traffic loop should include traffic calming 
features and, in some cases, widened 
sidewalks or parking lanes.


2.5 Redesign St. Paul and/or North Street as the 
main entrance to the Downtown, once the 
thoroughfares are under City jurisdiction.  
Both St. Paul Avenue and North Street 
should  become  2-way streets that are 
more pedestrian friendly and support local 
business activity.  This should be combined 
with a “cross-over” or roundabout near 
Albert Street.   The intersection of St. Paul 


Avenue and Barstow Street should be revised 
as a major pedestrian-friendly crossing and 
landmark. Parallel parking should be located 
on St. Paul Avenue and North Street to make 
the streets more pedestrian friendly and to 
slow traffic as it moves along the edge of the 
Downtown. 


2.6 In the long-term (10 to 20 years), if the 
Downtown area expands, the “triangle” could 
be expanded outward to reach Buckley and 
Union Streets.  Such expansion might also 
invite consideration of an additional bridge 
connection across the Fox River.


3. “Artscape” Main Street 


Establish an “artscape” street to attract tourists, 
visitors, and local residents.  


3.1 Establish a special two to three block stretch 
of a major Downtown street (probably Main 
Street) as a special “artscape” destination 
district (Figure 37).  If there is sufficient 
support, the length of this “artscape” corridor 
could be expanded.


3.2 The new design elements featured in the new 
street “artscape” should feature both public 
and private sector investments, including 
signs, doorways, window displays, bike 
racks, benches, planters, lighting, and other 
streetscape and landscape elements.


3.3 Enlist local artists and designers to participate 
in the creation of the unique design features.   


4. Streetscape 


4.1 Upgrade, repair, and maintain the sidewalk 
streetscape paving, street lighting, and street 
furnishings. The streetscape treatments 
should help reestablish Downtown and the 
Central City as a safe and attractive pedestrian 
destination. Waukesha should adopt different 
strategies and designs for different streets 
and public places as part the street master 
plan.  Streetscape standards should include 


some flexibility but the components should 
harmonize and set a high standard for streets 
and public places.  The streetscape plan 
should include a palette of typical design 
treatments for (at minimum) the following 
three types of street conditions.:


• High activity destination street (such as 
Main Street);


• A street primarily devoted to service 
activities and with less pedestrian traffic 
(such as South Street); and


• An arterial or collector street that is part 
of the previously described Downtown 
“triangle” (such as Wisconsin Avenue).


4.2 Add building lighting to a two to four 
block section of Main Street as part of the 
“artscape” concept noted previously.  If and 
when there is sufficient support, expand the 
use of artful building lighting (interior and 
exterior) throughout the Downtown and 
public space lighting to create a vibrant street 
scene and reinforce a sense of security.


4.3 Keep trees that are healthy, but consider 
removal of trees on streets that have a high 
degree of design detail for retail activity.  
Encourage fewer, but larger, concentrations 
of landscaping that will be easier to maintain 
and will have a more intense visual impact.  
Set standards for maintaining trees for long 
term vitality and survival.  Encourage private 
businesses to include smaller landscape 
elements in their entry ways, storefronts, and 
on their facades such as planters, hanging 
flowers pots, window boxes, etc.


4.4 Encourage more graphic arts for daytime and 
nighttime visual interest.  Graphic art should 
be linked to the individual stores and buildings 
that create the ambiance of Downtown.  
Graphic art should be further incentivized as 
part of window displays, business signage, 
and public art.  The graphics should become 
a hallmark of the Downtown that attracts 


visitors and customers, especially in the 
evenings and during major shopping seasons.


4.5 Where feasible, utility lines should be buried 
as new streetscape plans are implemented.  
This may need to be phased incrementally 
given the higher cost for burying utilities.  
The selection of streets for the first phase of 
burying utility lines should be coordinated 
with other public and private investments to 
minimize the costs.


4.6 Consider utilizing cost-effective streetscape 
improvements, including pervious pavement 
and better bio-filtration systems that control 
the quantity and improve the quality of 
stormwater runoff.  


5. Pedestrianization: Streets and 
Sidewalks


5.1 Balance the use of streets, sidewalks, and 
parking areas for all users.


5.2 Consider using “countdown timers” for 
pedestrian crossings at major signalized 
intersections to facilitate a more friendly 
pedestrian experience.


5.3 Improve major pedestrian crossings at key 
locations near the Riverwalk, including 
pedestrian access across Barstow Street and 
Broadway Avenue.


5.4 Consider widening sidewalks on Clinton 
Avenue as the equivalent of a traffic “diet” 
and evaluate the possibility of slower two-
lane traffic to improve pedestrian quality and 
safety.


5.5 Continue the closure of streets for major 
events, but be sensitive to local business 
needs during this time. Revise guidelines to 
better balance outdoor dining with pedestrian 
access and safety.







26 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


6. Transit and Bicycling


6.1 Establish bike trail connections in locations 
that will generate customers for local 
businesses.  Explore the expansion of the 
existing bike trail system into the surrounding 
neighborhoods in ways that bring customers 
to Downtown businesses and events.  


6.2 Evaluate possible locations for a new bike 
center, including sites located in or adjacent 
to public parks/plazas that are also near retail 
businesses and within reasonable walking 
distance to places of employment. 


6.3 Consider adding shared bike/parking lanes 
on appropriate streets to help promote safe 
bicycle access to and through the Downtown.


6.4 Improve maps and signage for bicyclists using 
trails and seeking connections to Downtown 
areas and key destinations.


6.5 As a pilot program, install moveable bike 
racks in one or two parking spaces in the 
Downtown.  Consider a simple system of 
augmenting bicycle parking by adding devices 
to signs, streetlights, and other streetscape 
elements that would allow cyclists to lock 
their bicycles next to their destination.   


6.6 Consider ways to coordinate with 
recommendations in the City’s Bicycle and 
Pedestrian Plan.


6.7 Create a “U-Pass” for area students to 
encourage transit use.


6.8 Coordinate transit routes for easier access to 
large institutions and major employers.


6.9 Explore a transportation-share system for 
autos and/or bicycles (such as “ Zipcars”).


7. Signage


7.1 Install kiosks and gateway elements that 
ring the outer edge of the Downtown 
triangle in order to define the district and 
provide critical information to visitors (such 
as parking availability and proximity to key 


businesses, destinations, and other important 
locations).  The kiosks or gateway elements 
should be oriented primarily to drivers but 
also accommodate pedestrians.  Kiosks 
and gateway elements should make the 
experience of visiting Downtown easier and 
more enjoyable.  While the design of this 
system should emphasize one or two visual 
features that help brand the Downtown, the 
system should also allow for considerable 
diversity of expression to accommodate 
different visual settings and needs (Figure 41).


7.2 Along with the major kiosks and getaway 
elements, there should be a pedestrian-based 
“wayfinding system” for visitors after they 
have left their car or bicycle.  This signage 
should identify businesses, activity clusters, 
public spaces, and major institutions.  These 
signs should also serve as visual cues and 
landmarks that strengthen links to the 
neighborhoods and the Riverwalk.


7.3 Provide flexibility in Downtown sign standards 
for businesses that will encourage high quality 
designs, materials, and lighting, but will also 
create visual diversity and memorable street 
facades.


7.4 Install clear and distinctive street signs at all 
intersections and cross-streets.  This type of 
signage is essential to facilitate the experience 
of first-time visitors, as well as repeat visitors 
who may be less familiar with the entire 
Downtown District.


7.5 Include parking information in the signage 
systems to help drivers simplify the process 
of finding parking, making it easy to use and 
remember. 


8. Parking 


8.1 Conduct a detailed occupancy study for 
parking usage in all of the  parking facilities 
and lots (Figure 38) including the public 
ramps, on-street parking, and surface lots 


Figure 38. Downtown Waukesha Parking Analysis: Counts







27Central City Master Plan


community rooms, lobbies, or exercise 
rooms


• Ground level decks, patios, and terraces 
serving residential uses 


• Apartment units with separate street level 
entries


• Larger commercial structures with multiple 
entries


• Ornamental gardens with benches and 
seating


• Graphic displays and murals


• Window displays for off-premises public 
and private activities.


• Acquisition of additional ROW to add on-
street parking as redevelopment occurs


• Attractive screening on the street edge 
of surface parking lots composed of 
ornamental fencing, masonry, hedges, 
trees, benches and other landscape 
elements.


9. Redevelopment Integration — Complete 
Streets


9.1 Include provisions in the streetscape master 
plan to guide the redevelopment of adjacent 
parcels.  These provisions should be used 
as an overlay district, form-based code, or 
regulating plan that identifies the building 
types, footprints, activities, and design 
features that should occur along each street 
edge.  


9.2 Increase flexibility for uses in redevelopment 
projects, but be more restrictive in terms of 
form, design features, and the need for active 
street level uses (including building entrances 
and windows.)


9.3 Vary redevelopment provisions according to 
the specific context of the site that:


• Facilitate preservation of historic buildings


• Create the “artscape” along Main Street


• Create the Downtown “Triangle” loop


• Recognize service streets that will not offer 
higher levels of street activity.


9.4 Ground level uses should promote activity 
along the street.  While small retail shops 
often represent the idealized form of street 
level activation, they are not always feasible.  
Consequently, other techniques should be 
considered for use in moderation (that is, to 
accommodate short gaps between higher 
activity uses), such as:


• Interior spaces for residential structures 
that have common functions like 


• Seasonal guidelines to allow some on-
street parking to be used for outdoor 
seating in warmer weather and  peak times 
for outdoor dining


• Enforcement of inappropriate use by 
employees and non-customer users 
(including, for example, inappropriate DOT 
employee use near businesses).


8.4 Increase options for shared parking, such as:


• Shared parking options that support 
increased occupancy rates, 24/7 business, 
and residential uses


• Pilot leasing programs of private lots for 
limited sharing at key times


• Additional public/private shared parking 
arrangements 


• Seasonal guidelines to allow some street 
parking  to be used for outdoor events.


8.5 Consider the following actions regarding 
public parking structures 


• Determine a long term plan for the 
Wisconsin Avenue/South Street garage. 
If necessary, conduct physical inspection 
of the City’s parking ramp and determine 
its longevity.  If major reconstruction 
is warranted, explore rebuilding the 
Municipal Garage with first level retail 
space.  Also, if rebuilding, estimate the 
cost and value of updating the facades and 
preventing access from “hidden” entries


• Estimate the need for and possible 
alternate locations of additional parking 
garages in the Downtown.


8.6 Consider the following actions regarding 
public  surface lots, and street parking 


• A pilot program for electric charging 
systems in lots (possibly solar)


• Additional on-street parking on Downtown 
streets where possible


(both public and private).  The goals should be 
to further define the scope of the problems 
for parking and the efficacy of suggested 
interventions.  Data collection should include 
parking occupancy by time of day, time of 
week, season, user type (customer, resident, 
employee).


8.2 Consider the use of new technologies for 
parking meters, which have proven successful 
in other downtown areas.  In the long run, 
as customers become familiar with these 
systems and their ease of use, they can 
be extraordinarily effective in managing 
demand and usage at different times of the 
day and week, as well as for different types 
of users.  Moreover, the pricing and timing 
of such parking policies can be modified far 
more easily than older coin-operated meter 
systems.


8.3 Consider new concepts for parking regulations 
and management, such as:


• New types of meters with flexible pricing 
systems (including market-based pricing) 
and ease of use


• BID or TIF support of parking ramp 
operation; consider possible cost/benefit 
for 1st floor retail


• Overnight parking for residents in 
downtown  by permit


• On-site and off-site kiosks with changing 
up-to-date availability info


• Better marketing of and wayfinding to 
parking lots and garages


• Off-peak exceptions to 2-hour parking 
limits


• Customer validation for waiving parking 
violations


• Street parking on the proposed outer 
triangle or loop that is attractive to 
visitors and other customers exploring the 
Downtown.







28 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


tIF incentives


The City should continue to use TIF to promote 
developments that have multiplier or catalytic effects 
on other projects, businesses, and market forces that 
impact the Downtown favorably.


Grocery store


In the long run, a grocery store serving Downtown 
residents will become a key variable in the 
continuation of the area’s success and vitality.  While 
market conditions may not be favorable at this time, 
Waukesha should remain open to such possibilities 
and explore opportunities as they may arise. 


New multi-family housing


Waukesha should encourage well designed and 
appropriately scaled multi-family and mixed-
use development that increases the daytime and 
nighttime population – both rental and owner-
occupied housing.  Like many cities, Waukesha has 
debated the relative merits of rental versus owner-
occupied housing.  


While this debate addresses legitimate issues, it can 
become counterproductive if it oversimplifies the 
issue as only a question of ownership.  It is important 
to support both rental and owner-occupied units.  The 
focus should be on the visibility of diverse, attractive 
and well-maintained residences, especially those 
that support local businesses regardless of the form 
of ownership. To move in this direction, Waukesha 
should:


1. Support and incentivize the rehabilitation of the 
upper floors of the historic downtown buildings 
to provide modernized residential units. 


2. Encourage housing for wealthy retirees, empty 
nesters and local employees


3. Encourage housing for artists and other members 
of the design professions


4. Encourage housing for the employees of local 
businesses and institutions


Policies should, however, promote “ownership and 
commitment” to the Downtown by incentivizing high-
quality owner-occupied units.  The City should use an 
“incentive-based” policy to make high-value owner-
occupied units more attractive and feasible, but not 
in a way that precludes the construction of new rental 
units. 


Development approval process


The city should also streamline the approval processes 
for proposals consistent with pre-approved concepts 
and standards.  


GOal #2: REsIDENtIal 
COmmUNItY


Increase the number, type and 
visibility of residential life-
styles in Downtown consistent 
with a vibrant urban center 
(including high-end housing 
as well as rental units that 
support local business.)


Figure 39. Goal 2 - Neighborhood Character and Opportunity







29Central City Master Plan


ImplEmENtatION 
OF GOal #2


1. Amend Housing Plan


The City should embrace a Central City housing plan 
model that targets a specific, realistic total for higher-
end units.  The policy should also place a value upon, 
and incentivize, rental units intended for persons 
likely to provide customers for Downtown businesses.  
This approach is also consistent with opportunities 
to create niche destinations for Downtown business 
(such as students in local schools, artists and 
designers, and employees working near Downtown).


2. Incentivize High Value Housing


Incentivize types of residential units that are currently 
missing, including high-value residential condos (but 
discontinue incentives as soon as it appears that such 
units are feasible without those incentives).  


3. Use Design Guidelines for Multiple 
Housing Types 


Develop a design code for new housing, regardless of 
type of ownership or building form.  


3.1 Require ground floor shared activities in 
addition to street level entrances.


3.2 Discourage buildings with more than 100 
units or more than 12 units per floor.


3.3 Encourage balconies and terraces, on the first 
three floors of a building and on upper floors 
where balconies could serve as meaningful 
visual landmarks for surrounding streets.


3.4 Require a design review of details for the first 
three stories.


3.5 Require a high level of architectural detail for 
‘blank’ facades along the street. 


3.6 Incentivize use of building practices that 
would reduce stormwater runoff and, at 
the same time, make newer buildings more 
attractive.   Stormwater incentives could be 
considered for green roofs, rain gardens, and 
comparable  techniques.


3.7 Incentivize other practices for energy 
reductions and environmental sustainability.


3.8 Commercial uses at ground level should not 
be required (with the possible exception 
of the Five Points subarea).  Instead, street 
level activity can be encouraged by allowing 
(or requiring) non-commercial ground level 
uses to include residential units with private 
ground-level entries or gardens (typical of 
town homes but also feasible in apartment-
style building types).    Other residential uses 
with ground level entrances could be included 
such as shared uses for apartment dwellers.  


3.9 Parking requirements for apartments should 
be reduced, especially if coupled with other 
parking regulations that discourage use of on-
street parking by residents during business 
hours.  For example, a reduction in parking 
requirements would be a reasonable trade-
off for requiring higher design standards. 


4. Residential Amenities – Plazas, 
Gardens, Active Places


Many residents who choose to live in active urban 
areas have different needs for access to public parks 
and “green” places.  The following two amenities 
would increase the attractiveness and economic value 
of downtown residences: 


4.1 Family-friendly, social activity areas in parks 
and plazas such as splash pad, ice-rink, 
informal vendor/markets sites and/or band 
shell.


4.2 Community gardens (depending upon land 
availability and maintenance).


4.3 A dog park (or walk) located on the Riverwalk.


5. Improve the Approval Process


Establish a more streamlined approval process for 
projects in the Downtown.  One way to do this 
would be to allow components of this Master Plan 
– especially suggestions for redevelopment – to be 
considered as overlay zones that are, in turn, defined 
as permitted uses.


6. Increase Support and Make Code 
Compliance Easier for Historic 
Preservation


The historic value of downtown buildings is a 
necessary component of the district’s economic 
value.  There are several ways to increase the historic 
value of Downtown:


6.1 Update the local list and map of historic 
properties and districts and consider adding 
remaining more significant properties.


6.2 Consider administrative procedures that 
would allow owners to apply alternate 
building codes that would allow renovations 
to be less expensive and/or more compatible 
with the aesthetic value of the structure.  


6.3 Support the rehabilitation of the upper 
floors of older historic buildings. Consider 
subsidizing the additional costs for building 
code upgrades with TIF or other funding 
sources, such that upper levels of older 
buildings can be remodeled without excessive 
expenditures.  


7. Facilitate Loans for Owner-based 
Improvements


Current income limits for public loan programs 
should be eliminated so that all homeowners 
(including condominium owners) could increase their 
investment in their property.  To the extent that loan 
funds are limited, priority should be given to those 
who qualify using the current income limits.


8. Seek Alternative Funding for Business 
Development


Consider outside sources of public funds to assist 
residential redevelopment:


8.1 Seek state and federal grant programs that 
provide for a variety of initiatives related 
to jobs, infrastructure, environmental 
improvements, tourism, tax credits, 
workforce housing, and related activities.


8.2 Seek private sector funding for unique 
projects benefiting the general public, 
associated with cultural activities, health and 
welfare, and other social initiatives.


8.3 Use TIF funding to incentivize redevelopment 
in an overall and  flexible manner.  It should 
not be applied in a way that increases land 
prices and then results in the reduction of 
development potential. 


8.4 Use TIF and related sources to add to the 
character of the street level activity.  


9. Facilitate Grocery Store Options


Develop guidelines for a grocery store approval 
process in or near the Downtown.


9.1 While a grocery store is desired by residents, 
it does not appear feasible based on present 
market conditions.  However, in the future  
the City should respond cautiously but 
positively to proposals for grocery stores 
and place a high priority on facilitating the 
implementation process.  


9.2 There are options for a moderately-sized 
grocery store, some of which are in the 
Downtown as well as in the neighborhoods 
surrounding the Downtown.  Implementation 
of these options may require changing 
regulations to accommodate signage, and 
parking.  This can be accomplished through 
conditional uses in zoning districts within the 
Downtown or Central City.







30 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


GOal #3: ECONOmIC 
VItalItY


Reestablish the Downtown 
as the business, social 
and cultural heart of 
the community.


Encourage area-wide street level activity


The economic value of the Downtown requires the 
distribution of street-level activity as an area-wide 
policy.  While not all streets have sufficient foot traffic 
and access to support commercial market activities, 
it is essential to maximize such opportunities and 
to avoid policies or redevelopment decisions that 
diminish movement and discourage vehicular and 
pedestrian circulation throughout the area.  


To this end, the City should require that the design 
and uses on the ground floor of new or renovated 
buildings create a vibrant and active street scene in 
the Downtown.  To avoid an oversupply of commercial 
space in the Downtown, do not require that all first 
floor space be used for commercial activity.  Instead 
create a flexible set of guidelines that allow a variety 
of design solutions and uses on the first floor that 
fit demand for commercial space but still create an 
engaging and attractive experience in the Downtown. 


Encourage new business


Encourage businesses consistent with, and supportive 
of, the current revival of Downtown.  Build on the 
emerging “creative culture” by seeking compatible 
and supportive businesses and services.   This includes 
restaurants, specialty shops, and services that build 
upon existing strengths, such as:


 ■ Designers, artist community, design industry, craft 
and high tech businesses 


 ■ Specialty apparel and unique boutiques


 ■ Public events, music, entertainment, and nightlife 


Increase both the daytime and 
nighttime population


Encourage businesses and services that increase the 
daytime population such as:


 ■ Use of Downtown for health care services and 
employment


 ■ City, County and State offices (especially when 
such uses can leverage other key investments)


 ■ Opportunities for higher quality office space


Encourage and support restaurants and other 
businesses to operate after 5 p.m. to help create a 
more active night life.  


Encourage high-quality community design


Become recognized for high design quality in 
architecture (both historic and contemporary) and 
landscape architecture.   In particular, high design 
quality should be associated with new development 
including retail and residential uses as well as in the 
design and treatments of streets and public parks and 
plazas.


Figure 40. Goal 3 - Neighborhood Character and Opportunity







31Central City Master Plan


could possibly include a signature multi-story, 
mixed-use project (residential, commercial 
office, institutional, and/or retail uses).


2.3 Create a landmark civic place for the staging of 
city-wide events (such as concerts, holidays, 
art shows, outdoor market).  Integrate this 
new place with existing riverwalk and plazas, 
other streets, landmarks and features.


2.4 Require high architectural and site design 
standards for key projects that utilize 
contemporary architecture and attract 
regional attention, while complementing (but 
not copying) distinctive historic buildings.  
At the same time, incentivize historic 
preservation, including the maintenance and 
rehabilitation of facades and interiors.  


2.5 Encourage the use of sustainable construction 
techniques and green energy in building, 
infrastructure, landscape, and stormwater.


3. Encourage High-Quality Renovation of 
Historic Buildings


3.1 Incentivize the rehabilitation of upper floors 
in Downtown buildings for commercial and/or 
residential uses, especially those with higher 
quality renovations that can attract new 
users.  At the same time, consider applying an 
alternate building code for historic buildings 
to facilitate continued renovation.


3.2 Update the local list and map of historic 
properties and districts and consider adding 
more significant properties.


3.3 Consider administrative procedures that 
would allow owners to apply alternate 
building codes that would allow renovations 
to be less expensive and/or more compatible 
with the aesthetic value of the structure.  


3.4 Support the rehabilitation of the upper 
floors of older historic buildings. Consider 
subsidizing the additional costs for building 
code upgrades with TIF or other funding 
sources. 


4. Seek Alternative Funding for Business 
Development


Consider outside sources of public funds that help 
implement this goal:


4.1 Seek state and federal grant programs 
for a variety of initiatives related to jobs, 
infrastructure, environmental improvements, 
tourism, and related activities.


4.2 Seek private sector funding for unique 
projects benefiting the general public 
(associated, for example, with cultural 
activities, health and welfare, and other social 
initiatives.)


4.3 Use TIF funding to promote economic 
development consistent with this plan.  
While TIF should be used to incentivize 
redevelopment in an overall and  flexible 
manner.   TIF should not be applied in a way 
that increases land prices and then results in 
the reduction of development potential.


5. Make the Transit Center a Valuable and 
Attractive Urban Hub


Currently the Transit Center offers a significant service 
to Waukesha’s Central City, including residents, 
businesses, employers, and commuters.  Over time 
this level of activity will increase.  


Transit Center parking should be used as an incentive 
for new private sector developments.  Such incentives 
must be structured to ensure that the City captures 
the full economic value of the parking facility.


The sites  surrounding the Transit Center can build 
upon this hub of activity.  Most notably, the site 
southeast of the Transit Center offers the opportunity 
to link activities to the Riverwalk.  


Programs could be initiated to increase use of 
the Transit Center.  These programs might include 
incentives for using bicycles for commuting (to be 
arranged with local employers), recreational rentals 


for bicycling or other activities, and/or use of shared 
community cars (e.g., zipcar)


6. Create Additional Amenities To Attract 
Visitors


The Downtown should become more attractive for 
both year round residents as well as visitors from 
Waukesha neighborhoods outside the Central City, 
the region, and a broader range of tourists.  These 
attractions should encourage activity in all seasons.  
Possibilities include a splash pad for families with 
children, an ice-skating rink for active winter time use, 
and/or the Les Paul museum.


Other cultural activities might include the expansion 
of the historic museum or art museum undertaken 
in conjunction with the arts community, Carroll 
University or other local institutions.


Recreational and cultural activities should be 
combined with other private sector investments such 
that there are synergies of use that lead to increased 
social and economic activity for small businesses.


7. Ensure Long-Term River Quality


Prior investment in the Riverwalk and the resurgence 
in downtown activity depend, in large measure, on 
the value of the Fox River as an amenity.  The value 
of this natural environmental feature impacts the 
economic well-being of a community.  


Consequently, the long term environmental quality 
of the Fox River should be evaluated and maintained.  
Issues to be addressed include: bank stabilization, 
erosion control, protection of water quality through 
improved stormwater management, problems of 
silting and flooding, and dredging.  Along with physical 
improvements, educational programs should involve 
the general public in the appreciation of the natural 
environment of the Fox River.


ImplEmENtatION 
OF GOal #3


1. Support Broad Distribution of Increased 
Economic Value and Business Activities 


Spread support for multiple small businesses and 
minimize potential conflicts.


1.1 Support BID activities to promote Downtown 
businesses, amenities, and events.  Consider 
expanding the BID to the wider Downtown 
area northwest of the River, but not so far as 
to diminish the concentrated disposition of 
resources within the Downtown.


1.2 Coordinate advertising to promote Downtown 
businesses and cultural activities, including a 
Downtown business directory and guidebook.


1.3 Expand programming for community events 
and activities


1.4 Work with major employers and institutions 
to accommodate organizational growth 
within the Downtown and Central City.


1.5 Expand internet band width and general 
access for high tech users (educational 
institutions, internet services, designers).


1.6 Expand educational institutions using 
existing space (especially vacant facilities) as 
incubators for entrepreneurial opportunities.


1.7 Revise the business address policy to allow 
more than one address per building, thereby 
eliminating the confusion experienced by 
some businesses/customers in the past.


2. Improve Design Quality 


2.1 Create the “artscape” and downtown 
“triangle” described previously.


2.2 Create one “design icon” redevelopment –
preferably at St. Paul and Barstow which 







32 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


2.2 Case-by-case flexibility should be allowed, but 
gaps in street edges should be limited to 65’ 
(to accommodate a one-bay parking lot and 
never exceed more than 120’ (the width of 
two surface parking bays).  Another limitation 
should be that gaps never exceed 50% of the 
block face (25% gaps are maintainable, but as 
they increase it becomes harder to maintain 
continuity – both visually and economically.)


3. Require pedestrian friendly activities 
and façade designs at the ground level 
for all street edges.


3.1 Most downtown plans usually require a high 
level of street activity, often mandating retail 
uses with entrances along all sidewalks.  
However, continuous retail use is not 
feasible in many market conditions  (not 
unlike portions of Waukesha’s Downtown).  
Consequently, alternatives to street level 
retail must be included as part of the 
approach to active street activity. 


3.2 Street level residential entrances for 
apartments should be encouraged.  When 
entries are not feasible, shallow front yards or 
patios with decorative fencing and high street 
visibility should be allowed.


3.3 Street level signage, displays, and public 
art projects should be encouraged.  Such 
projects can fill some gaps in street edges.  In 
addition, landscape features integrated with 
building facades should be considered such as 
benches and planters. 


3.4 Non-retail activities can be located at street 
level if they include ample glazing and allow 
visual connection between the interior 
activity and pedestrians.  These might include 
meeting rooms, hotel lobbies, apartment 
lobbies, professional offices, exercise/fitness 
uses, daycare, interiors for community 
uses (such as clinics, churches, government 
agencies).


URBaN DEsIGN pRINCIplEs FOR 
DOWNtOWN 


1. Require and implement a smaller-scale 
street and block pattern that matches 
the historic character of downtown.


1.1 The urban design concepts depicted in this 
section include alignments for public rights-
of-way, which continue the traditional street 
system.  This street and block system offers 
more than aesthetic value – it is fundamental 
to the economic stability of the downtown 
and should be required for all projects.  


1.2 Within each block, multiple parcels should be 
encouraged.  When a block is developed as a 
single parcel, separate architects with distinct 
building designs should be encouraged.  If 
only one architect is used, multiple building 
sites should be required with distinct styles 
and appearances.  That is, harmony among 
buildings is desirable, but they should all be 
seen as distinct structures.


1.3 Streets should be designed as highly walkable 
and safe experiences. They should include on-
street parking, safe pedestrian crossings, and 
attractive sidewalks and street furnishings.


2. Require buildings to align with the front 
property lines and occupy block corners.


2.1 A commonplace, but easily avoided failure, 
in contemporary downtown redevelopment 
derives from “open” corners that destroy 
the continuity of the district fabric.  Typically, 
open corners come about due to setting 
buildings back from property lines.  These 
setbacks, when they occur on corners, 
eliminate the spatial and visual continuity 
of the street.  While gaps in street façades 
are needed occasionally (for example, they 
may allow a mid-block, narrow entrance to a 
surface parking lot) they should never occur 
on the corners of blocks.  


DOWNtOWN URBaN 
DEsIGN & REDEVElOpmENt


the urban design component 
for the Downtown is critical 
to the long-term success of 
the district.  there must be 
a small-scale street and 
block pattern, along with 
fully integrated public and 
private uses.  Ground level 
activities must be pedestrian 
friendly and include 
active uses that engage 
pedestrians and passers-by.


Figure 41. Gateway concept sketch


These illustrations depict one concept for a gateway and 
signage feature (at the corner of St. Paul and Barstow) that 
can help visitors recognize and remember the outer loop of 
the Downtown triangle.







33Central City Master Plan


Figure 42. Urban Design Projects for the Downtown


This map depicts a combined set of urban design concepts for the Downtown.  Many other combinations of options can be developed.   Subsequent illustrations describe each urban design project 
in more detail.


ST. P
AUL A


VENUE


BARSTOW STREET


WISCONSIN AVENUE


MAIN STREET


BROADWAY


MADISON AVENUE


NORTH ST
REET






































Downtown 
Redevelopment Sites


North  River Bank East Site


North River Bank West Site


Wisconsin Avenue Site


Broadway & South Street Site


Barstow & the River Site


Main & Barstow Site


Downtown Triangle


Main Street Artscape



















34 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


NORtH RIVER BaNk – East 
(FROm BaRstOW tO BROaDWaY)


The area along the north edge of the Fox River offers 
the greatest opportunity to transform Downtown, the 
surrounding neighborhoods, and the overall image 
of the City.  Redevelopment on the north side of the 
Fox River is the next logical opportunity for changing 
the dynamic of the Downtown and the Central City.  
This area bordered by St. Paul, Barstow, the Fox River, 
and Broadway represents a key redevelopment site 
(Figure 43 through Figure 446).  Options for this site 
employ a few basic principles:


1. Redevelop the site using a pattern of streets and 
blocks that allows for incremental investment; 
creates the amenities customers, workers and 
residents want; and matches the tradition of 
higher valued urban areas.


2. Assume a public-private partnership which 
would (a) leverage private investments to make 
public areas more desirable and attractive and 
(b) leverage public investments to reduce the 
high risks associated with major private sector 
development.  This could be achieved through an 
overlay district or regulating plan associated with 
the City’s Comprehensive Plan or Zoning Code. 


3. Locate building footprints to continue the historic 
pattern of walkable, pedestrian friendly streets 
with a diversity of street activity, well distributed 
street parking, and active urban experiences.


4. Encourage facades and architectural details with 
contemporary styles.


5. Create significant public places (accessible 
from the Transit Center and Riverwalk) that 
link highly visible activities.  These should 
include features such as a splash pad and/or 
ice-skating rink associated with a cafe or food 
service establishment.  This might also include 
performances in one area with a band shell, as 
well as outdoor dining or market stalls.  These 


places should not be “dedicated” or single-
purpose, but rather multiple use areas to allow 
for year round activity, daytime and night time, 
weekdays and weekends. These spaces should be 
linked to surrounding areas via clearly delineated, 
safe, and inviting pathways.


6. Create a river’s edge that integrates pedestrians, 
vehicles, landscape, and outdoor activity 
associated with new development. The river's 
edge should be linked to the Downtown, the 
Transit Center, and the rest of the Riverwalk 
system. Features on both banks of the river should 
form a cohesive network of improvements. 


North River Bank East – Option 1 


The pattern of new buildings and public places can 
take several forms (see Figure 43 for Option 1).  In all 
cases it is important to maintain a similar street and 
block structure with complete streets (pedestrian, 
vehicular, and bicycle circulation) on all four sides.  
This ensures long term access, active uses, and a 
pattern that continues the attractive, historic features 
of Downtown. Enhanced pedestrian crosswalks should 
be incorporated into several surrounding streets  to 
increase pedestrian access and improve safety.  On-
street parking should be added to Barstow and St. 
Paul. Equally important, the creation of a street and 
block framework allows for multiple phasing options.  
Any one of the three blocks could become the starting 
point for redevelopment. 


7. This option contains a key riverfront "lane" (N. 
Riverbank Lane ) that extends the activity and 
character  of the Downtown. Most importantly, 
the "lane" helps combine, and thereby raise, the 
value of both sides of the Fox River.


8. All of the blocks portray building footprints 
that are relatively simple and can easily fit with 
complementary buildings.  The footprints are 
sufficiently simple to allow for a broad mix of uses 
to be developed over time as the market for the 
uses emerges.  In addition, skywalk connections 
to the parking facility  can be accommodated in 


several ways and can pass through one building 
to reach another.  Ensuring this type of building 
compatibility is important and the incremental 
development of different projects should be 
managed accordingly.  


9. The eastern block includes a site well-suited for a 
hotel and small meeting venue .  The block is 
sufficiently large to include other complementary 
uses as well .  The interior of the eastern block 
includes additional surface parking screened 
from the public .  If more parking is needed, 
the center of this block could be converted into 
a parking deck – but only if it is surrounded on all 
four sides with active uses.   Underground parking 
may also be physically feasible.  


The middle block features a potential civic building 
, and a potential mixed use building .  In more 
technical terms, this is a “co-located municipal 
building,” including commercial uses, as well as city 
offices.  This location takes advantage of the value of 
the parking structure.  In this illustration, the building 
includes:


• City Hall


• Private commercial offices with a small 
food service or retail area along the 
riverfront park


• A glass-enclosed interior (year round) 
skywalk  and stair that connects the 
existing parking ramp, new civic building, 
and riverfront park areas


• Unique architectural features that will 
symbolize the City Hall such as a separate 
council chamber or community room  


• A shared civic courtyard  located in the 
interior of the center block, linking St. 
Paul to the Fox River, with multiple social 
uses (such as ceremonies, celebrations, or 
private rentals). 


10. The western block includes screened surface 
parking  and several opportunities for mixed-


use buildings .  In addition to commercial uses, 
functions might include a recreational facility, 
day-care, or combination of uses.  Here too, these 
blocks are sufficiently large to accommodate 
multiple uses consistent with compact, intense 
urban development.  


11. Finally, the Riverwalk itself comprises part of a 
“fourth” block  with expanded riverfront spaces 
that can accommodate a park pavilion, band shell, 
temporary structures for markets, ice skating and 
other high-activity areas.  Again, these places 
should not be “dedicated” or single-purpose, but 
allow many uses for year round activity, daytime 
and night time, weekdays and weekends. This 
fourth block should be linked to the Downtown 
through enhanced pedestrian routes .


12. This option shows a building along the River’s 
edge .  This can be an excellent landmark, but 
only if the design of the structure is carefully 
composed to encourage full riverfront continuity 
with strong public access.  There are many 
examples of private sector design which provide a 
high degree of community activity and value.  The 
key is to ensure that such buildings do not occupy 
too great a footprint, utilize underground parking,  
and that all four sides contain active street-level 
uses.  Building height need not be limited.  In 
fact, given the significance of the location the 
architecture of a taller building might help the 
area achieve landmark status.


North River Bank East – Option 2


This second option (Figure 44), very similar to the first, 
depicts slightly different building footprints that all 
adhere to the same basic principles :  maintaining 
the street and block pattern; multiple development 
opportunities; complete streets that provide high-
value access ; ground level, year round activities.  
This option is intended to illustrate a simpler, more 
market-driven set of opportunities in which all 
the footprints could be developed incrementally 
as private sector uses, as demand increases for 







35Central City Master Plan


Figure 43. North River Bank East Site Redevelopment - Option 1


ST. P
AUL A


VENUE


BARSTOW STREET


BROADWAY MAIN STREET


BROOK STREET


MARY STREET


WAUKESHA METRO
TRANSIT CENTER 









































Legend


Residential


Commercial


Civic/Institutional


Mixed Use


Transportation


Park/Open Space


RIVERFRONT PLAZA


N. RIVERBANK LANE





BARSTOW
PLAZA





 
















































































36 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


residential, office, and retail space.  This option 
features an expanded riverfront plaza extending 
through to Barstow Street.


The concept implies that the build-out would 
take several years and that each building might 
be developed on separate lots, in keeping with a 
traditional high-value pattern of downtown growth 
and avoiding the problems caused by large-scale, 
overly massive projects.  


North River Bank East – Option 3


This third option (Figure 45) maintains urban design 
principles from the first two options, but changes 
some key features with regard to the river’s edge and 
links to the Transit Center.


1. Option 3 no longer shows a continuous vehicular 
circulation path along the River’s edge.  In 
Options 1 and 2 a “riverfront lane” ensured a high 
level of pedestrian activity along the edge of the 
river.  That is, a circulation lane in Options 1 and 
2 created a street front which, in turn, induced 
ground level activities and important architectural 
elements (like doors and windows) that animate 
the river’s edge.  In Option 3, however, a wide 
pedestrian promenade replaces the vehicular 
circulation lane .  The pedestrian promenade 
can include an easement for public access but 
remain in private ownership.  This approach offers 
a different way to balance private and public uses.


2. Option 3 emphasizes a major connection from 
Five Corners to available parking in the Transit 
Center.  Linking convenient, abundant parking in 
the Transit Center to the downtown can boost 
local business and related activities (such as Friday 
Night Live).  The distance from the Transit Center 
to Five Corners is approximately 800 feet.  In most 
shopping malls, for example, a walking distance 
from parking to shopping destinations of 800’ 
is not problematic due to visual simplicity and a 
shared understanding of pedestrian movement.  
In downtown Waukesha, however, the visual and 
“psychological” distance from the Transit Center 


Figure 44. North River Bank East Site Redevelopment - Option 2




















Legend


Residential


Commercial


Civic/Institutional


Mixed Use


Transportation


Park/Open Space





















ST. P


AUL A
VENUE


BARSTOW STREET


BROADWAY


BROOK STREET


MARY STREET


WAUKESHA METRO
TRANSIT CENTER


BARSTOW
PLAZA


FRAME
PARK


RIVERFRONT PLAZA


N. RIVERBANK LANE







37Central City Master Plan


Figure 45. North River Bank East Site Redevelopment - Option 3


to Five Corners seems harder to overcome.   The 
"walking" connection is not convenient nor 
attractive.  To rectify this, Option 3 creates a 
direct, easy-to-use, attractive link passing through 
the center of the block  facing the Transit 
Center.  Landscape and streetscape make the link 
attractive and memorable, creating an effective, 
walkable path.  Next to the path, a large curved 
green space points to the Transit Center .  This 
garden area could, for example, be privately 
owned with an easement for pedestrian access.


3. In Option 3 building footprints show several 
variations.  For example, a footprint for a 
potential City Hall  (co-located with commercial 
offices) implies a variety of building heights.  The 
buildings opposite the Transit Center can include 
taller landmark forms that create a lynchpin 
tying St. Paul to the Five Corners pathway.  The 
major building mass might be 3 to 5 stories , 
with lower 1 or 2 story forms  in unique shapes 
that hug the sidewalks and maintain ground 
level retail activity.  In the southeast corner of 
the subarea, near Barstow and the river, other 
variations in building masses add visual interest.  
The southeast corner building might include a 
tower-like component near Barstow and the river 
 (as a key landmark), a mid-rise component 
 (perhaps 5 stories for the basic mass of the 
building), and a 1 or 2 story addition  (probably 
retail) on the north side that creates an active 
street edge and gateway to the site.  


4. Option 3 also shows a revised landscape and 
streetscape south of the river.  This design makes 
both sides of the river convenient for pedestrian 
movement and local business.  The subarea 
includes a series of interconnected parking 
“courts” with attractive paving, streetscaping and 
landscaping .  This approach provides more 
parking (when needed) as well as attractive, 
flexible places for outdoor events – both functions 
are warranted if more intense development 
occurs on the north side.




















Legend


Residential


Commercial


Civic/Institutional


Mixed Use


Transportation


Park/Open Space


ST. P
AUL A


VENUE


BARSTOW STREET


BROADWAY


BROOK STREET


MARY STREET


BARSTOW
PLAZA


FRAME
PARK


RIVERFRONT PLAZA























































WAUKESHA METRO
TRANSIT CENTER



















38 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


Figure 46. North River Bank East Site Redevelopment - Option 4


As with prior options for this subarea, Option 3 
presumes a direct or indirect subsidy officered to 
the private sector (in terms of TIF funding and/or 
parking access) in return for increased public use and 
activity.  The intent is to create a strong public-private 
partnership with a greater return on investment for 
private development as well as a greater public value 
and experience for the community.


North River Bank East – Option 4


This fourth option (Figure 46) provides a variation 
on Option 3.  This design shows more intense 
development integrating public activity and access 
between buildings along the river’s edge.   The 
pedestrian link from Five Corners to the Transit 
Center is relocated along Brook Street .  Building 
configurations create smaller, well-defined public 
places  that will become more intimate places 
within  a more intriguing and interesting cityscape.  


Given the tight configurations, a precise alignment 
of building footprints is critical to the success of the 
concepts in Option 4.  Specific building footprints and 
street-level activities should be “required” rather than 
treated as a general guidelines.  This design approach 
can be accomplished through a “regulating plan” for 
a “form-based code” (or similar device) that ensures 
integrated urban design features as described below.  


1. Option 4 depicts a more intense private 
development with more building footprints than 
any other option for this subarea.   While built 
footprint increases, the combined length of 
building facades with a direct view of the river’s 
edge decreases.  Nevertheless the increase in 
total built area should lead to higher activity levels 
and higher tax base.  The increase in building 
intensity may require some below grade parking 
(for residential or commercial property).  This 
suggests that developers will request a subsidy, 
probably through Tax Incremental Financing.  
Such subsidies should be given strong positive 
consideration, but only in return for an effective 


ST. P
AUL A


VENUE


BARSTOW STREET


BROADWAY


BROOK STREET


MARY STREET


BARSTOW
PLAZA


FRAME
PARK


RIVERFRONT PLAZA




















Legend


Residential


Commercial


Civic/Institutional


Mixed Use


Transportation


Park/Open Space




































WAUKESHA METRO
TRANSIT CENTER







39Central City Master Plan


pattern of public access, public places, and street 
level activity as envisioned in the design.


2. On the easternmost block, a new structure has 
been added much closer to the river’s edge (but 
still on private property).  This structure might 
be a higher value residential building .  Other 
market options are feasible.  The added building 
is consistent with the intention of creating more 
activity by increasing occupied uses along the 
river’s edge.  The new riverfront building still 
allows movement from the vehicular path to the 
pedestrian edge of the river.


3. Option 4 (like Option 3) maintains a well-marked 
pedestrian walkway from Five Corners to the 
Transit Center, but reconfigures this path in 
tandem with Brook Street, leading to the street 
crossing at St. Paul .  This street-oriented 
pedestrian connection seems more public and 
might have more activity than the comparable 
mid-block connection in the Option 3.  By 
relocating the pedestrian path to the west, the 
mid-block area becomes a more intimate garden 
or courtyard  (which might still offer some semi-
public activity). 


4. Option 4 also uses the south side of the river to 
for more attractive parking with streetscape and 
landscape.  As in Option 3, intense develpment on 
the north side of the river increases the need for 
parking and event space on the south side.


NORtH RIVER BaNk – WEst (FROm 


BROaDWaY tO WIsCONsIN)


The western section of the north bank of the Fox 
River (Figure 47) should continue the pattern of 
development from the east.  However, different 
constraints and opportunities suggest a more 
moderate pattern of development in this area with 
smaller structures.


Along Broadway, a new mixed use structure  would 
complement the development to the east and help 


Figure 47. North River Bank West Site Redevelopment


ST. P
AUL A


VENUE


WISCONSIN AVENUE


MAIN STREET


BROADWAY


W
EST AVEN


U
E



























































Legend


Residential


Commercial


Civic/Institutional


Mixed Use


Transportation


Park/Open Space
















































40 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


Figure 48. Wisconsin Avenue Site Redevelopment


MAIN STREET


WISCONSIN AVENUE


M
APLE AVEN


U
E


  


W
ES


T 
ST


RE
ET


























Legend


Residential


Commercial


Civic/Institutional


Mixed Use


Transportation


Park/Open Space


















connect to the Downtown .  The plan shows a 
possible expanded Riverwalk and pedestrian crossing 
system along the northern bank of the river .


The western edge of this site (along Wisconsin Avenue) 
also reaches a newly proposed roundabout .  This 
roundabout creates a strong gateway element from 
the west.  It marks one of the key points that define 
the corners of the proposed Downtown “triangle”.  
The roundabout brings a new sense of importance 
(and value) to this corner of the Downtown.  Another 
key feature of roundabouts is the way in which they 
facilitate pedestrian movement.  Roundabout design 
must place an equally high priority on the aesthetic 
appeal of the entire intersection as well as the obvious 
safety issues.


WIsCONsIN aVENUE sItE


The area bordered by West Main Street, Maple Street, 
Wisconsin Avenue, and West Street (Figure 48) offers 
an important opportunity regarding the future of 
residential development.  The “texture” of the existing 
housing in the area includes a mix of individual 
buildings on separate lots, some larger structures, and 
nearby historic structures as well as some common-
wall buildings.  Consequently, the concept for this site 
also includes a mixture and diversity of building types.


A series of individual townhomes  are proposed, 
each with private entries and attached garages.  In 
this illustration, townhomes are grouped into two sets 
of five units (such that at least 4 of the 10 units can 
include windows on three sides).  These townhomes 
complement (but do not replicate) the texture of 
structures along Wisconsin Avenue.  The slightly 
higher density of townhomes, versus detached single 
family, will provide higher value per acre.  Townhomes 
are also oriented toward owner occupancy, although 
rentals of these units should not be discouraged.


A second structure  is a corner building for 
apartments that have  park views.  This structure can 
be developed as either all-residential, commercial, 


create a strong image at the intersection of Broadway 
and St. Paul.  


This intersection of Broadway and St. Paul is a major 
gateway for the Downtown.  While the option shown 
here presumes private development, this site would 
also serve well as a location for an institutional 
structure  like a museum or cultural facility.  A 
key factor for any use at this intersection will be the 
accommodation of parking.  Specifically, if the corner 
use requires a larger surface lot, it will disrupt the 
continuity of buildings and disconnect the western 
section of the site.  A small amount of surface parking 
(as shown in the design ) with the possibility of 
some below-grade parking is preferred.  


The larger majority of the site contains a variety of 
residential structures .  Many housing types are 
included.  This visual and social diversity is essential 
to avoiding the image of a single block of housing 
with one style, image, occupancy pattern.  Housing 
diversity remains a key to the value of the Downtown.  
The housing types shown here include town houses, 
condominiums, and rental units.  The building types 
are also varied with some two-story and some higher 
structures.  Many other patterns of structures are 
possible.  However, in all cases, the structures must 
create a strong edge along St. Paul, the Riverwalk, and 
the alignments for cross streets. 


The new cross streets  are particularly important 
to maintain the traditional pattern of movement and 
facilitate pedestrian crossing to and from both sides 
of the river, to maximize ease of access for street 
parking and business activity.    


The street circulation pattern extends the existing grid 
and creates visually active pedestrian sidewalks.  Even 
with fewer business locations in this area, Riverwalk 
activity is critical from a social and cultural viewpoint.  
That is, continuous public access must be embedded 
along with multiple, inviting pedestrian linkages 
across the site linking the Fox River to St. Paul.  Where 
possible, these pathways emphasize connections 
to pedestrian bridges that cross the Fox River and 







41Central City Master Plan


or mixed-use with some non-residential activity on 
the ground level.  Building parking is provided in the 
small surface lot  which may be supplemented with 
underground spaces if the market conditions allow.  
This surface parking could also be used for rental units 
which would allow lower, more marketable rents.


The street edge along West Street and Wisconsin 
Avenue   requires strong landscaping since this 
site represents another gateway to the Downtown 
“triangle” and is the first site on the entrance to Main 
Street.


BROaDWaY & sOUtH stREEt sItE


The triangle area bordered by Broadway and South 
Street lies close to the heart of the Downtown.  This 
subarea includes a mix of building types ranging 
from detached structures to traditional main street 
buildings.  There are several options, each of which 
combines different building types that accommodates 
different market scenarios. The first option takes a 
more modest and incremental approach, the second 
a bit more substantial, and the third represents a 
major new structure on the site.


Broadway and south street site – Option 1


This option (Figure 49) includes a strong corner 
building  whose form matches the unique angular 
character of the site combined with a thin townhome 
building  along South Street.  Residential use is 
emphasized on South Street due to its largely non-
retail character.  Commercial uses with multiple 
entries are anticipated along the Broadway edge of 
the triangular building to match the existing character 
of the street. 


The corner building has a façade at its apex which is 
set back from the street to allow for a smaller public 
design feature  consisting of unique landscape, 
streetscape, or public art.  The building  could be 
multi-story, mixed use with some combination of 
retail, residential, and/or office.  This illustration 


Figure 51. Broadway and South Street Site - Option  3


BROADWAY


WISCONSIN AVENUE


SOUTH STREET


EA
ST


 A
VE


N
U


E


Figure 49. Broadway & South Street Site - Option 1






























Legend


Residential


Commercial


Civic/Institutional


Mixed Use


Transportation


Park/Open Space


SOUTH STREET


BROADWAY


WISCONSIN AVENUE


SOUTH STREET


BROADWAY


WISCONSIN AVENUE












 





Figure 50. Broadway & South Street Site - Option 2







42 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin


BARSTOW
 STREET


MAIN STREET








Figure 53. Barstow & the River Site - Option 2








BARSTOW
 STREET


MAIN STREET






Figure 52. Barstow & the River Site - Option 1


assumes that there would be underground parking 
for building users.


This option also includes a series of nine townhomes 
, each two to three stories, that create a continuous 
pedestrian friendly facade along South Street.  Some 
surface parking  for residents is located behind the 
building.  


In addition, this option presumes that the building 
located just east of the corner  will be rehabilitated.


Broadway and south street site – Option 2


Option 2 (Figure 50) depicts a denser development 
pattern with two mixed use buildings .  The 
illustration includes a potential layout of parking 


Figure 54. Main & Barstow Site


MAIN STREET


BARSTO
W


 STREET



M
ARTIN


 STREET






































Legend


Residential


Commercial


Civic/Institutional


Mixed Use


Transportation


Park/Open Space


below grade .  This option also assumes the 
rehabilitation of the existing building in the southeast 
corner of the site .


Broadway and south street site – Option 3


Option 3 (Figure 51) shows the most intense pattern 
of development with a series of connected buildings 
 which appear and function as separate structures, 
but nonetheless allow for internal connections.  This 
option presumes that the building along Broadway 
Avenue  might be included in the redevelopment 
pattern rather than undergoing a separate 
rehabilitation effort.  Again, this type of flexibility 
will be determined by market conditions and the 
investment decisions of the property owners.







43Central City Master Plan


BaRstOW aND tHE RIVER sItE 


Proximity to the River and the core Downtown, as 
well as adjacency to Barstow Street and Main Street, 
makes this site highly significant to the image of the 
Downtown.  Both of the options shown here replace 
the existing retail store and municipal parking lot.


Barstow and River site - Option 1


This concept (Figure 52) includes buildings along 
the entire edge of the street with two connected 
residential buildings .  Both (or either) structures 
could contain underground parking.  A small amount 
of surface parking  is located east of the buildings.  
The structure on the corner near the river should 
include some unique architectural feature that serves 
as a landmark.  


Barstow and River site - Option 2


The second concept (Figure 53) includes two corner 
buildings.  The building facing the river is shown 
as a three-story mixed use building , while the 
structure on Main Street is shown as a simple one-
story commercial use .  The space between the 
structures would be surface parking  with significant 
streetscape treatment along Barstow . 


maIN aND BaRstOW sItE


The half-block area bordered by Main Street to the 
north, Barstow to the west, and Martin to the east, 
occupies another key location along Main Street 
(Figure 54).  The site lends itself to higher density, 
more compact development that can become part of 
the Downtown's core.  


The site's redevelopment is proposed as three 
separate buildings, all of which must include facades 
that maintain the street edges.  One larger building 
would be inappropriate, since it would further the 
perception of overly large scale structures in the area 
and counter to the unique texture and diversity of the 
historic street character.  


The most critical site, on the corner of Main and 
Barstow, should improve the gateway character of 
Main Street and should include a unique architectural 
design feature on the corner .  


The second building on the corner of Main and 
Martin Street is envisioned as a more modest one 
story commercial building  which, given its size and 
location, should be feasible.


A moderately sized surface parking lot  helps 
provide front-of-store parking while maintaining the 
character of the street.  This use replaces the existing 
Ace Hardware structure and public parking lot.  The 
Main Street edge of the parking lot should receive 
special landscape/streetscape screening .


The largest building, mid-block, is proposed as 
a parking ramp  with a commercial use on the 
ground level facing Barstow .  A parking ramp at 
this location would help provide a highly visible and 
accessible facility for Downtown parkers.


Given the importance of Barstow Street, it is also 
assumed that a strong streetscape treatment will be 
needed to create a pedestrian-friendly experience 
opposite the imposing blank façade to the west . 







44 City OF WaUKesHa, WisCOnsin





		08a-R-195-2018-Redevelopment Authority Central Businss Distric Master Plan.pdf

		08b- Comp Plan-Downtown.pdf

		pg 49.pdf

		pg 51.pdf

		pg 54.pdf

		pg 55.pdf

		pg 56.pdf

		pg 57.pdf

		pg 74.pdf

		pg 75.pdf

		pg 145.pdf



		08c- Waukesha Downtown Master Plan.pdf

		Downtown - part 5 (PDF).pdf

		Ch5 - Downtown_Part2_Part4

		Ch5 - Downtown_Part2_Part5







